
From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Accepted: Bi Weekly Check In re EO



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Accepted: Outreach Request/Additional Sites



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Accepted: Touch base next week?



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Automatic reply: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Wednesday, August 30, 2023 4:44:14 PM

Hello,
 
Demos is having an organization wide closure until Wednesday, September 6. Please email me again when I return. Thank you!
 



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Automatic reply: EO Materials and Next Steps
Date: Thursday, October 19, 2023 12:54:59 PM

Hello,
 
I will be OOO from 10/18 to 11/3. In my absence, please email Demos' Director of Democracy Phi Nguyen (pnguyen@demos.org)
with any urgent requests. 

Best,
Ashley
 



From: Jacqueline De Leon
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Allison Neswood; Sarah Brannon; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra

Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org)
Subject: Checking in re: ABQ
Date: Wednesday, July 5, 2023 7:35:12 PM

Hi Josh,

Thank you so much for your continued support moving the agencies toward designation. We wanted
to do a quick check in regarding the ABQ designation. We were wondering if it is alright if we
reached out to Secretary Toulouse-Oliver’s office? We’d like to ask for a copy of the designation she
executed for the SIPI, let her know about the possibility of designation of the ABQ facility, and
potentially broach the subject of a meeting in August. Of course, if you prefer to do that we are
happy to defer to you. What do you think? 

Thanks,
 
Jacqueline De León
Senior Attorney
Native American Rights Fund 
250 Arapahoe
Boulder, CO 80302-6296
jdeleon@narf.org
P:303-447-8760
F:303-443-7776
 

 
THIS MESSAGE IS INTENDED ONLY FOR THE INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY TO WHICH IT
IS ADDRESSED AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS CONFIDENTIAL,
PRIVILEGED, AND EXEMPT FROM DISCLOSURE. IF YOU ARE NOT THE INTENDED
RECIPIENT, PLEASE DELETE IT FROM YOUR SYSTEM WITHOUT COPYING,
PRINTING OR FORWARDING IT, AND NOTIFY US BY REPLY EMAIL OR BY
CALLING 303-447-8760.  THANK YOU.
 



From: Saundra Mitrovich
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; Sarah Brannon; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF)
Subject: Fwd: [EXTERNAL] IHS Designation Discussion
Date: Friday, July 21, 2023 12:45:34 PM
Attachments: 1-10-8 NMAC.pdf

FYI - Forwarded email from SOS
---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Bachman, Lindsey, SOS <lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov>
Date: Wed, Jul 19, 2023 at 2:47 PM
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] IHS Designation Discussion
To: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Cc: Vigil, Mandy, SOS <Mandy.Vigil@sos.nm.gov>, Romero, Charles, SOS
<Charles.Romero@sos.nm.gov>, Chinana, Charlotte, SOS <Charlotte.Chinana@sos.nm.gov>,
Romero, Theresa, SOS <Theresa.Romero@sos.nm.gov>

Hello,

 

Thank you so much for reaching out, as these types of designations have been the subject of
internal discussion in our office during recent months. It’s exciting to hear a potential
opportunity for designation of IHS. We are meeting later this week, which will provide an
opportunity to answer specific questions you may have and set the foundation for the
designation process moving forward.

 

In the meantime, I am sharing some information related to designation that we have in statute
and rule that may help answer some of your questions. Please see attached and below. (Note:
We are in the process of updating rulemaking language. This rule has not been scheduled for
rulemaking this summer but will be updated later to reflect changes passed by the legislature
this year and potentially other updates.)

 

We do have a coding system for agency registrations, trainings/a guide for designated
registration agencies, and can provide forms for registration. I am also researching the
documentation related to the SIPI designation, but I do not have a firm update for you at this
time.

 

At any rate, I look forward to discussing these items further on Friday.

 

Best,



 

Lindsey

 

1-4-5.2. Agency registration; form.
A. A qualified elector may register to vote at certain state government offices.
B. Pursuant to Section 1-4-47 NMSA 1978, a qualified elector who applies for a driver's
license, license renewal or motor vehicle identification card may simultaneously register to
vote or file a change of address for voter registration purposes.
C. Pursuant to Section 1-4-48 NMSA 1978, a qualified elector may register to vote in any state
agency that provides public assistance or services to persons with disabilities. The secretary of
state may designate other state or local public offices with the agreement of those offices.
History: 1978 Comp., §  1-4-5.2, enacted by Laws 1995, ch. 198, § 3.
 
1-4-48. State-agency-based voter registration program--established--human services
department.--
A. The secretary of state shall adopt and publish in accordance with the State Rules Act rules
for the
administration of a state-agency-based voter registration program. The rules shall provide for
distribution of voter
registration forms, provisions for the acceptance of voter registration forms and procedures for
reporting voter registration activity in accordance with the federal National Voter Registration
Act of 1993.
B. Voter registration shall be made available at all state agencies providing public assistance
or services to
people with disabilities. The secretary of state may designate other state and local public
offices to provide
voter registration services with the agreement of those offices.
C. Each state agency participating in the voter registration program shall maintain sufficient
records for
the secretary of state to comply with federal voter registration reporting requirements and the
federal Help
America Vote Act of 2002. Any records maintained by a state agency regarding voter
registration activities in that agency
are confidential and shall not be released as public records.
D. Any voter registration made or accepted at a state agency pursuant to this section shall be
transmitted to the appropriate registration officer within ten calendar days.
E. A state agency employee or agency contractor who participates in the voter registration
process may not intentionally influence the prospective registrant in the selection of political
party, or independent status, by word or act. A state agency employee or agency contractor
who participates in the voter registration process may not reveal the existence of or the nature
of the voter registration to anyone other than a registration officer.
F. The human services department shall develop procedures to be approved by the secretary of
state to ensure that each benefit program administered by the department appropriately ensures
that qualified electors receiving benefits are offered the opportunity to register to vote or
update an existing certificate of registration without duplication of information contained by
the department or by the secretary of state. No later than the last day of August of each
calendar year, the human services department shall issue an annual report detailing
implementation of the requirements of this subsection. The report shall be sent to the



legislative council service, the secretary of state and each county clerk.
G. If a person who is not a qualified elector becomes registered to vote pursuant to this
section, the person's registration shall be canceled and the person shall be deemed to have
never registered.
(NEW - House Bill 4, 2023)
 
1-4-5.3. Registration; lack of physical address.
A. If a qualified elector resides in an area lacking a specific physical address, the qualified
elector shall be allowed to substitute a mailing address along with a description, such as a map
or the latitude and longitude, indicating where the qualified elector resides. The qualified
elector shall be assigned to a precinct based on the geographic description of where the
qualified elector resides.
B. The secretary of state shall issue rules regarding acceptable forms of non-physical
addresses.
History: Laws 2005, ch. 270, § 18; 2007, ch. 336, § 5

 

 

 

 

 

Lindsey Bachman | Director of Legislative and Executive Affairs

New Mexico Office of the Secretary of State

325 Don Gaspar, Suite 300 | Santa Fe, NM 87501

Cell

lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov

 

 

From: Romero, Theresa, SOS <Theresa.Romero@sos.nm.gov> 
Sent: Monday, July 17, 2023 3:40 PM
To: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Cc: Bachman, Lindsey, SOS <lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov>
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] IHS Designation Discussion

(b) (6)



 

Hi there!  Please send the invite for 7/21 from 10:30 – 11 am MT to:

Lindsey Bachman lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov
Mandy Vigil mandy.vigil@sos.nm.gov

In addition, I’m bringing Lindsey back into the conversation so she can address your
questions.  Please let me know if you need anything further from me.

 

Theresa

 

From: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org> 
Sent: Friday, July 14, 2023 5:25 PM
To: Romero, Theresa, SOS <Theresa.Romero@sos.nm.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] IHS Designation Discussion

 

CAUTION: This email originated outside of our organization. Exercise caution prior to
clicking on links or opening attachments.

Hi Theresa, 

 

Thank you for the quick reply. Next Friday at 10:30works for us. We are looking forward to
connecting! We can send around an invite. 

In anticipation of our meeting, we have a couple of updates. It turns out in my previous email I
mistakenly said Albuquerque IHS is the facility that wanted to be designated. ABQ IHS is the
region, and Santa Fe IHS is the facility that would like to be designated. We’ve had a
preliminary conversation with the Santa Fe IHS facility. The facility is enthusiastic and they
have described their intake procedures.  From that conversation, a handful of questions arose
we are hoping to discuss on Friday: 

 

1. How does the facility get the registration forms? 
2. Are the registration forms coded, and if so can the forms be coded to track the forms

coming from IHS to keep track of the number of IHS registrations? If they are not coded
how does NM keep track of registrations from its NVRA designated facilities?

3. Santa Fe IHS services multiple counties, does the IHS facility need to sort the



registrations or can they send the registrations directly to the Secretary’s office or
another office? 

4. Does the Secretary’s office have trainings on NVRA designation compliance? Does the
Secretary specifically have trainings on individuals who utilize PO Boxes and do not
have a residential address? 

 

Finally, is it possible to get the MOU executed for designation between SIPI and the
Secretary? We are looking for sample designation agreements. 

Thank you very much! We look forward to talking to you on Friday. 

 

Jacqueline De León

Senior Attorney

Native American Rights Fund 
250 Arapahoe
Boulder, CO 80302-6296

jdeleon@narf.org

P:303-447-8760

F:303-443-7776

 

 

 

Get Outlook for iOS





From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Date: Thursday, November 9, 2023 12:38:22 PM
Attachments: Outlook-b5tbkk2n.png

Ashley Tjhung is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting.

Topic: Ashley Tjhung's Zoom Meeting
Time: Nov 9, 2023 01:00 PM Eastern Time (US and Canada)

Join Zoom Meeting

Meeting ID: 
Passcode: 

---

One tap mobile
#,,,,* # US
#,,,, # US (Washington DC)

---

Dial by your location
•
• ashington DC)
•
•
• hicago)
• ew York)
•
• an Jose)
•
•
•
• acoma)
• ouston)
•
•
•
•
• US Toll-free
• US Toll-free
• US Toll-free
• US Toll-free

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6) (b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)



• US Toll-free
• US Toll-free
• US Toll-free

Meeting ID: 
Passcode: 

Find your local number: 

Ashley Tjhung
(she/her/her’s)
Policy Analyst
t. 248-818-0379

 

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Jacqueline De Leon; Sarah Brannon
Subject: Re: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
Date: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 2:49:14 PM
Attachments: image006.png

Thanks Josh, just bumped a conversation with Lindsay to ask if there are any updates. 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Monday, February 26, 2024 9:30 PM
To: Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org) <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Ashley Tjhung
<ATjhung@demos.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
 
Most recent convo with SoS.
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Thursday, February 22, 2024 1:47 PM
To: Chinana, Charlotte, SOS <Charlotte.Chinana@sos.nm.gov>; Bachman, Lindsey, SOS
<lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov>; Romero, Theresa, SOS <Theresa.Romero@sos.nm.gov>; Vigil,
Mandy, SOS <Mandy.Vigil@sos.nm.gov>
Cc: Curtas, Alex, SOS <Alex.Curtas@sos.nm.gov>
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
 
Good afternoon,
 
Hope all is well. Wanted to circle back to this and see if you have any possible dates selected.
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 

From: Chinana, Charlotte, SOS <Charlotte.Chinana@sos.nm.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, January 31, 2024 12:07 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Bachman, Lindsey, SOS
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
 
Good morning, Joshuah –
 
Thank you for taking a few minutes to speak with me; I will be following up with some proposed
dates for training, as well as designation information. We are looking forward to working with you.
Have a wonderful day!



 
--
Charlotte Chinana | Deputy Elections Director
New Mexico Office of the Secretary of State
325 Don Gaspar, Ste. 300 | Santa Fe NM  87501
Cell:   | Desk: (505) 827-3623
charlotte.chinana@sos.nm.gov
 

 
Confidentiality Notice: This e-mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain
confidential and privileged information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended
recipient, please contact the sender by reply e-mail and destroy all copies of the original message.

 
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 30, 2024 11:45 AM
To: Bachman, Lindsey, SOS <lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov>; Romero, Theresa, SOS
<Theresa.Romero@sos.nm.gov>; Vigil, Mandy, SOS <Mandy.Vigil@sos.nm.gov>
Cc: Chinana, Charlotte, SOS <Charlotte.Chinana@sos.nm.gov>; Curtas, Alex, SOS
<Alex.Curtas@sos.nm.gov>
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
 
Good afternoon/morning,
 
I hope the end of the year was joyful and you stated 2024 refreshed.
 
I wanted to circle back to this and see if there are any new developments and timeline update.
 
As I recall, there was an initially timeframe of March/April. I believe that was to develop training and
materials. I am unsure if you are aware, but in addition to HHS/IHS the DOI Bureau of Indian
Education the Veterans Health Administration were also included in the EO.
 
The BIE-operated Southwestern Indian Polytechnic Institute, in ABQ,  received designation in late
2022 or early 2023. Dr. Cecelia Cometsevah, vice president for student affairs at SIPI, headed up the
efforts and worked with Suzanne Hursh in the SoS office. State personnel came to our campus,
provided a presentation, and staff were deputized. The establishment of the office did not
take long at all, so they say. Just wanted to flag for you in case you were unaware of that
established connection.
 
In any case, looking forward to reconnecting in the new year and helping move this work forward.
 

(b) (6)



Best,
Josh
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS
Mobile: 
 
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Wednesday, November 22, 2023 1:37 PM
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
 
Great! Thanks for the update. Looking forward to Santa Fe getting the all clear.
 
In terms of the event, we are open to times that work for you all. It doesn’t have to be concurrent or
near the time of the designation—especially as we get to the end of the year and the busy holiday
season.  As soon as we get a timeline for when the designation will land we can plan something to
include SFSU, Area Office, and IHS national leadership, perhaps some tribal leadership, and of course
relevant staff/leadership from the SoS office.
 
I am also excited about the upcoming meeting with Crownpoint. The goal is to have as much of the
internal leg work down at the service unit by the meeting so a possible designation can come soon
after.
 
I hope you all have a great holiday weekend and I look forward to connecting soon.
 
Best,
Josh
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS
Mobile:
 
 
 

(b) (6)

(b) (6)



 

From: Bachman, Lindsey, SOS <lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, November 15, 2023 9:06 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Romero, Theresa, SOS
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
 
Good evening,
 
We share your excitement in hearing that the board signed off, and we are moving forward with
official designation. The elections team is wrapping up the regular local election, and Charlotte
Chinana, cc-ed here, will be in touch with Daniel regarding training and designation timelines once
the work of the election canvass has concluded.
 
Please keep us in the loop on any sort of finalized plans regarding the event commemorating the
designation. We would love to be able to participate.
 
Thank you for sharing that about the Crownpoint potential designation. I am excited to learn more
on 12/5.
 
Best,
 
Lindsey
 
Lindsey Bachman | Director of Legislative and Executive Affairs
New Mexico Office of the Secretary of State
325 Don Gaspar, Suite 300 | Santa Fe, NM 87501
Cell: 
lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov
 

 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 14, 2023 8:30 PM
To: Romero, Theresa, SOS <Theresa.Romero@sos.nm.gov>; Bachman, Lindsey, SOS
<lindsey.bachman@sos.nm.gov>; Vigil, Mandy, SOS <Mandy.Vigil@sos.nm.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
 

CAUTION: This email originated outside of our organization. Exercise caution prior to clicking on
links or opening attachments.

(b) (6)



Good evening all,
 
I believe I might have met one or all of you on an earlier virtual meeting regarding E.O. 14019 and
the Santa Fe Service Unit. I am excited to hear their governing board has finally signed off and that
they are a-go to receive NVRA designation.  Daniel Cox tell me they have their business practices all
updated and are ready to go to receive training from the state and the designation from the
Secretary of State’s office.
 
I am extremely exited to hear about this development—as are many others. Do you happen to have
a timeline for a rollout of this? I would love to involve some area leadership as well as senior
leadership (including myself) in an event with the Santa Fe Service Unit. And perhaps someone form
the SoS office. In October we had such an event with the Arizona SoS when Native Health Phoenix
was designated and press was involved—it was picked up by a few national Native outlets.
 
Additionally, the Navajo Area Office is working on standing up a site in their area—and they have
picked Crownpoint Service Unit. Because of the geography of the Navajo Nation, either AZ or NM
were going to get two sites, and NM won out. I know that the leadership of the Crownpoint unit has
been in contact with you all and have a meeting on 12/5 regarding designation. I have also put them
in contact with Santa Fe to start working on the business processes and such now so the 12/5
meeting goes smoothly.
 
Please let me know if I can be of any assistance in getting both of these sites designated in the near
future.
 
V/r
Josh
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director
Indian Health Service
5600 Fishers Lane (Mailstop 08E37)
Rockville, MD 20857
301.443.1083
joshuah.marshall@ihs.gov
 

 



From: Jacqueline De Leon
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Allison Neswood; Sarah Brannon; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra

Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org)
Subject: RE: Checking in re: ABQ
Date: Wednesday, July 5, 2023 7:54:21 PM

Thanks, Josh. I can wait to reach out to the Secretary until your call with Dr. Thomas and team in
case any hiccups arise from that meeting. Then, we can reach out to the Secretary’s office. There is
no need to wait until August for designation but that does probably mean we should reach out fairly
quickly after tomorrow’s call. Happy to do so when we get the go ahead.

Thanks!
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, July 5, 2023 5:41 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; Sarah
Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra
Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org) <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Subject: Re: Checking in re: ABQ
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello Jacqueline,
 
Yes, please do move forward. Dr Thomas and relevant members of his leadership and I are meeting
tomorrow to discuss next steps (along with Ty and Bryce). I plan to reach out to you all afterwards
about trainings, materials, dates, and connecting with the SOS. 
 
Sequentially, does this  August  meeting need to happen before designation? If so, could it happen
sooner? I’d like to stick as much as possible to at least 1 if not 2 sites designated in July as I
committed to the White House. Of course they will understand if I was overzealous. 
 
Josh. 

--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
 
 
From: "Jacqueline De Leon" <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Subject: Checking in re: ABQ
Date: 05 July 2023 19:35
To: "Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)" <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>, "Allison Neswood"
<Neswood@narf.org>, "Sarah Brannon" <sbrannon@aclu.org>, "Ashley Tjhung"
<ATjhung@demos.org>, "rseelau@ncai.org" <rseelau@ncai.org>, "Saundra Mitrovich

(b) (6)



(smitrovich@ncai.org)" <smitrovich@ncai.org>

Hi Josh,

Thank you so much for your continued support moving the agencies toward
designation. We wanted to do a quick check in regarding the ABQ designation. We
were wondering if it is alright if we reached out to Secretary Toulouse-Oliver’s office?
We’d like to ask for a copy of the designation she executed for the SIPI, let her know
about the possibility of designation of the ABQ facility, and potentially broach the
subject of a meeting in August. Of course, if you prefer to do that we are happy to
defer to you. What do you think? 

Thanks,
 
Jacqueline De León
Senior Attorney
Native American Rights Fund 
250 Arapahoe
Boulder, CO 80302-6296
jdeleon@narf.org
P:303-447-8760
F:303-443-7776
 

 
THIS MESSAGE IS INTENDED ONLY FOR THE INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY TO
WHICH IT IS ADDRESSED AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS
CONFIDENTIAL, PRIVILEGED, AND EXEMPT FROM DISCLOSURE. IF YOU
ARE NOT THE INTENDED RECIPIENT, PLEASE DELETE IT FROM YOUR
SYSTEM WITHOUT COPYING, PRINTING OR FORWARDING IT, AND
NOTIFY US BY REPLY EMAIL OR BY CALLING 303-447-8760.  THANK YOU.
 



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra

Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:49:26 PM

Great that works for us!
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:37 PM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ)
<Alexandria.Lundborg@ihs.gov>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org;
Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood
<Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
I can do 3:30
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:36 PM
To: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ) <Alexandria.Lundborg@ihs.gov>; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra
Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood
<Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
How does 3pm ET work?
 

From: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ) <Alexandria.Lundborg@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 16, 2023 5:27 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Jacqueline De Leon
<JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich
<smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood
<Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Greetings,
 
Can you please provide your time to meet on Friday, August 18?
 
Very Respectfully,
 
Lexi
 
From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, August 15, 2023 3:29 PM



To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>;
Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Cc: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ) <Alexandria.Lundborg@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Yes. Lexi can you work to find a time for a call this week. Next week I will be at the National Tribal
Opioid Summit in Tulalip, WA.
Josh
 
 

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, August 15, 2023 3:26 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>;
Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Hi Josh,
 
We had a call this afternoon and have a number of things we’d like to check in with you about. Do
you have time this week or next for a touch base call? Thanks so much for all of your hard work – the
developments are very exciting!
 
Thanks, 
Jacqueline
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, August 15, 2023 8:40 AM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: FW: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello,
 
Native Health PHX is working towards designation. They had a call with the AZ SoS office and they
were very supportive. I did get this request for examples/more information from the AZ about how
to actually designate. I am running into this with a couple other states as well, it seems these might
be more rare occurrences than initially thought.
 
Anything you can provide from other states/AZ-specific would be much appreciated.
 



Best,
Josh
 
 
 

From: C.Murphy Hebert <cmhebert@azsos.gov> 
Sent: Monday, August 14, 2023 4:16 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Celina Olivas <COlivas@azsos.gov>; Amy Chan <achan@azsos.gov>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Hi Josh,
Thank you for sharing this information with us. Currently, we are looking for examples of what other
states have done to cofidy/memorize the designation. Do you have examples of that?
Did they use an IGA or a Proclamation? We know that we can enter into this arrangement, but we
are looking for direction on how to operationalize it.
Thanks!
Murphy
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Friday, August 4, 2023 2:37 PM
To: C.Murphy Hebert <cmhebert@azsos.gov>
Subject: FW: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Importance: High
 
Sharing with you the information I referenced on our call.
 
Also, here are the emails of the staff from the nonprofit implementation partners we are working
with. Both Sarah Brannon and Jaqueline De Leon are full of helpful information.
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Friday, August 4, 2023 4:59 PM
To: Cotton, Beverly (IHS/NAS/AO) <Beverly.Cotton@ihs.gov>; Amiotte, Joe (IHS/ABR/AO)
<Joseph.Amiotte@ihs.gov>; Martinez, Marcus C (IHS/POR) <Marcus.Martinez@ihs.gov>
Cc: Driving Hawk, James (IHS/PHX) <James.DrivingHawk@ihs.gov>; Buchanan, Chris (IHS/HQ)
<Chris.Buchanan@ihs.gov>
Subject: FW: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Importance: High
 
Sharing the information I referenced.
 



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ); Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra

Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:36:01 PM

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
 



From: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ)
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah

Brannon; Allison Neswood
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Wednesday, August 16, 2023 5:27:29 PM

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
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison

Neswood
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Tuesday, August 15, 2023 3:26:31 PM

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
Cc: rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood; Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Re: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Thursday, September 7, 2023 11:32:26 AM

 Hey Josh, We're free next week on Monday between 11:15am and 12pm EST, Wednesday
between 3:30 and 4pm EST, and Friday, 12:00-1:00 EST or after 3:00 EST.

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Sent: Wednesday, September 6, 2023 12:02 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>; Saundra Mitrovich
<smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood
<Neswood@narf.org>; Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ) <Alexandria.Lundborg@ihs.gov>
Subject: Re: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Sorry about that Josh. Many were out last week. We’ll confer and get back to you ASAP 

Sent from my iPhone

On Sep 6, 2023, at 11:47 AM, Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> wrote:

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do
not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the
content is safe.
Just following up on my last email. Can you let me know some times that work for you
all to meet with me and staff from the NAS, PDX, and GPA areas next week?
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Wednesday, August 30, 2023 4:44 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Greetings from HHS Region 5 Tribal Consultation in Choctaw Mississippi.
 
The NAS, PDX, and GPA area offices identified service units and sites that are willing to
participate in becoming on NVRA.
 
Portland: Western Oregon Service Unity (aka Chemawa) in Salem, OR. A federal site.
 



Nashville area: Native American Lifelines (located in Baltimore and Boston, but
preference for Baltimore location). An Urban Indian Organization.
 
Great Plains Area: Oyate Health Center in Rapid City. Tribally owned and operated site.
 
I’d like to set up a meeting with the Area Directors and the leadership of the three sites
and a subset of this group if anyone is able. Ideally the first two weeks of September.
Can you send some times that work on your end?
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Wednesday, August 23, 2023 7:49 PM
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
 
Greetings form Tulalip, WA. Here for the first ever National Tribal Opioid Summit.
 
Some updates. I meet with NAS, GPA, and PDX area offices Monday and they are going
to send me the sites under consideration sometime next week. I’ll then work on getting
a meeting with the Area Directors, the leadership of the sites selected, and you all for
early September.
 
I am meeting next week with the Navajo Area and Oklahoma City Area directors to start
the process with them. They are the last two of the 8 areas that committed earlier in
the year. I will have to figure out next steps with the remaining for (Alaska, California,
Bemidji, and Tucson areas) soon.
 
Also, if you have any more examples of designation letters or MOAs to share, please
do. People find them helpful.
 
Best,
Josh
 
 

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> 
Sent: Thursday, August 17, 2023 3:41 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Ashley Tjhung
<ATjhung@demos.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>;
Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>



Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Hi Josh,

Thanks for following up. Attached is a letter that demonstrates how Kansas effectuated
the designation. The process can be as simple or as formal as the state chooses. For
example, in Kansas this letter sufficed and we think it’s a good example of how to
simply and expeditiously move forward with designation.  
 
Alternatively, next week on August 22 we are having a ceremony at the tribally run
healthcare facility in Shingle Springs where the California Secretary of State is going to
the Rancheria to formally issue a declaration issuing the designation and where the
tribe is passing a tribal resolution accepting the designation. Mostly, the point of this
August 22 ceremony is to publicize the designation. Here is a link to how California
designates – the Secretary issues a declaration: NVRA Designated Agencies (ca.gov). So
following the ceremony, Shingle Springs Health and Wellness center will be added to
this Declaration.
 
Hope that helps. Pleas let me know if you have any questions.
 
Thanks, 
Jacqueline
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, August 17, 2023 12:56 PM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: FW: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click
links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is
safe.
FYSA
 

From: Celina Olivas <COlivas@azsos.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:53 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Hi, I wanted to follow up to see if you’ve had an opportunity to check with your
nonprofit partners. I had a conversation with Susan on Monday, and she really wants to
have this program initiated before the end of September. Your assistance in this matter
is greatly appreciated.
 



Thank you.
 
Best,
Celina 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Monday, August 14, 2023 1:50 PM
To: C.Murphy Hebert <cmhebert@azsos.gov>
Cc: Celina Olivas <COlivas@azsos.gov>; Amy Chan <achan@azsos.gov>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Hello Murphy,
 
Let me check with our nonprofit partners if they came across examples in other states
regarding this work.
 
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
Thank you for sharing this information with us. Currently, we are looking for examples
of what other states have done to cofidy/memorize the designation. Do you have
examples of that?
Did they use an IGA or a Proclamation? We know that we can enter into this
arrangement, but we are looking for direction on how to operationalize it.
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
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Ryan Seelau; Jacqueline De Leon; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: EO 14019 and IHS: next three sites
Date: Monday, August 7, 2023 12:40:48 PM

Hi Josh,
 
That’s exciting news! We’re so glad to see even more sites designated and the energy IHS is putting
behind this project. Please add us to the meeting list and we’ll see which of us can attend.
 
Thanks!
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Friday, August 4, 2023 1:35 PM
To: Ryan Seelau <rseelau@ncai.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Jacqueline De Leon
<JDeLeon@narf.org>; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: EO 14019 and IHS: next three sites
 
Hello,
 
Quick update. I notified the Directors of the IHS Great Plains, Nashville, and Portland Area Offices
that I want to move forward with designating the next three EO sites in their areas. We will have a
call about that next week. I am happy to invite you all to that meeting if you’d like. Although the EO
only commits us to five areas, Ms. Tso would like to get all 12 area offices to have at least one site
designated this year.
 
Earlier this week Native Health had a call with the AZ SoS about designation. Also, on Monday the
Crow Service Unit had a meeting with Western Native Voice on next steps. Last week
 
Best,
Josh
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS
Mobile: 
 

(b) (6)



From: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ)
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Saundra Mitrovich; rseelau@ncai.org; Allison Neswood;

ATjhung@demos.org; Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: EO 14019 Billings and ABQ
Date: Wednesday, June 21, 2023 8:38:00 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Good Morning All,
 
A Zoom invite has been sent for tomorrow, Thursday, June 22 from 10:30-11:00 AM
ET.
 
If you have any questions or concerns please feel free to contact.
 
Very Respectfully,
Lexi
 
From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 20, 2023 5:55 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Saundra Mitrovich
<smitrovich@ncai.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>;
ATjhung@demos.org; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Cc: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ) <Alexandria.Lundborg@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 Billings and ABQ
 
Hi Josh and Alexandria,

We are finishing up the materials on our end and hope to get them to you tomorrow. Any chance
you are available for the times below? I think what works best for us is this Thursday some time
between 10:30 AM and 1PM EST.
 
Thank you,
Jacqueline
 

From: Jacqueline De Leon 
Sent: Wednesday, June 14, 2023 3:55 PM
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
 
Hello Josh,

Thank you so much for this exciting and excellent update. We are working on pulling together those
materials and will have them to you by next Tuesday. We have also internally conferred and can
meet between 10:30 AM and 1PM EST on Thursday the 22nd or from 11-12 on Friday the 23rd.



 
Thank you very much!

Sincerely, 
Jacqueline
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, June 13, 2023 11:28 AM
To: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Allison Neswood
<Neswood@narf.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; ATjhung@demos.org; Sarah
Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Cc: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ) <Alexandria.Lundborg@ihs.gov>
Subject: EO 14019 Billings and ABQ
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello all,
 
Greetings from Eureka, California. I am here participating in the field hearings of the Not Invisible Act
Commission as the IHS member.
 
Early this morning I had more regular call with the White House Domestic Policy Council. I
committed to stand up the two pilot sites in Billings and ABQ areas by the end of July. Not a hard
deadline, but a goal.
 
So, we should get started on next steps. One immediate one I recall from our call with Dr. Thomas
and Mr. Redgrave was getting them some information materials and examples of
trainings/information to share with communities as they get ready to talk with tribal leaders.
 
Also, I’d like to get another quick check in call with us scheduled for next week. I’ve cc’d Lexi, who
will set that up.
 
Thank you,
Josh
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director
Indian Health Service
5600 Fishers Lane (Mailstop 08E37)
Rockville, MD 20857
301.443.1083
joshuah.marshall@ihs.gov
 



 



From: Jacqueline De Leon
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Saundra Mitrovich; rseelau@ncai.org; Allison Neswood; ATjhung@demos.org; Sarah

Brannon
Cc: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ)
Subject: RE: EO 14019 Billings and ABQ
Date: Tuesday, June 20, 2023 5:55:14 PM
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
Date: Wednesday, June 14, 2023 5:54:55 PM
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
Date: Thursday, June 22, 2023 6:00:58 AM
Attachments: image001.png

IHS as NVRA Designated Site One Page Explainer.pdf
Executive Order One Page Explainer.pdf
Explainer For IHS Voter Registration.pdf
Summary of NVRA Compliance.pdf
2022 NCAI IHS Resolution.pdf
Sample NVRA Training Materials.pdf

Hi Josh,
 
Looking forward to touching base. Wanted to pass along a collection of materials. These include:
 
Two Quick One-Pagers:

1. IHS as NVRA Designated Site One Pager
2. Executive Order One Page Explainer

Two Longer Documents Explaining in more depth designation of IHS facilities:
3. Explainer for IHS Voter Registration
4. Summary of NVRA Compliance

Indian Country documents in support of designation of IHS facilities:
5. The 2022 NCAI tribal resolution in support of IHS designation
6. A link to the petition in support of IHS designation with over 8,000 signatures:

https://actionnetwork.org/forms/support-voter-registration-at-indian-health-service-facilities-
now/

Sample documents related to NVRA designation such as sample forms, checklists, and other training
materials that can be adapted to training for IHS:

7. Sample NVRA Training documents
 
Can’t wait to talk through these a bit and next steps.

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
 

 



 

NVRA Designation in Indian Country 

On March 7, 2021, President Biden issued an Execu�ve Order on Promo�ng Access to 
Vo�ng (EO). In the EO, the President specifically named the unique barriers to vo�ng 
faced by Na�ve people and directed federal agencies to do what they can to address 
these barriers, including accept designa�on under the Na�onal Voter Registra�on Act 
(NVRA) where possible. This EO could transform voter registra�on in Indian Country by 
implemen�ng voter registra�on at places that explicitly serve Na�ve people.  

Under the EO, the Department of the Interior, the Department of Veterans Affairs, and 
Indian Health Service undertook projects to designate facili�es under the NVRA. Being 
designated means these en��es would be required to provide high-quality voter 
registra�on services to the Na�ve people they serve. This would look similar to the voter 
registra�on opportuni�es provided for decades at DMVs, Medicaid offices, and other 
state agencies, which are effec�ve, but which o�en miss Na�ve voters. 

Department of Interior (DOI) 

DOI was the first agency to designate facili�es and is a leader in the implementa�on of 
this EO. DOI accepted designa�ons of the two tribal colleges that it operates, Haskell 
Indian Na�ons University in Kansas and Southwestern Indian Polytechnic Ins�tute in 
New Mexico. Both ins�tu�ons are in the implementa�on stage and will soon be 
providing voter registra�on opportuni�es to the students and communi�es they serve.  

Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) 

The VA is in the process of accep�ng designa�ons of three VA health facili�es in 
Kentucky, Michigan, and Pennsylvania. Once designated, these facili�es will provide 
voter registra�on opportuni�es to its clients without interrup�ng the provision of care 
or compromising pa�ent confiden�ality. 

Indian Health Services (IHS) 

President Biden commited to designa�ng five IHS voter registra�on pilot sites by the 
end of 2023. IHS is in the process of selec�ng the five sites.  

 



 

What is NVRA Designation? 
 
Under the Na�onal Voter Registra�on Act of 1993 (NVRA) states can designate state and 
federal government agencies as non-par�san voter registra�on agencies. For example, the 
Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) is a commonly known NVRA designated agency in 
most states and is where many Americans register to vote for the first �me.  
 

What do designated facilities have to do? 
 

1. Distribute voter registra�on applica�on forms to customers (typically during intake). 
2. Assist customers with comple�ng the voter registra�on applica�on form. 
3. Transmit any completed voter registra�on forms to the appropriate elec�on officials. 

 

Why IHS? 
 
IHS and tribally administered health programs serve approximately 2.6 million American 
Indians and Alaska Na�ve people each year, many of whom are not registered to vote. 
Over a third (34%) of vo�ng age Na�ve Americans are not registered to vote – 
approximately 1.2 million Na�ve Americans. 
 
Civic engagement is a proven contributor to the social determinants of public health. 
Voter registra�on services are well within IHS’ mission to increase the wellbeing of Na�ve 
Americans.  Voter registra�on already occurs in other health care contexts like Medicaid.  
 
Addi�onally, Na�ve Americans face unique obstacles to registra�on: 
 

• County registra�on sites, DMVs, and public assistance agencies (that many Na�ves may 
not even use due to receiving treaty benefits) can be over 30 miles away.  

• Homes on reserva�ons o�en do not receive residen�al mail delivery and homes o�en do 
not have addresses on them. This makes receiving a registra�on form and filling it out 
correctly more difficult.  

• In some states, registra�ons from Na�ve Americans are rejected at dispropor�onately 
high rates.  
 
Given these challenges, unregistered Na�ve Americans would benefit from the 
convenience of voter registra�on alongside their rou�ne visits to trusted IHS and tribal 
facili�es. President Biden has commited to 5 voter registra�on pilots at IHS facili�es by 
the end of 2023. 



Helpful Examples from State NVRA Practices 

 Document Description 
 Colorado Voter Preference Form 

 Training guidance document that the California Secretary of State has provided to agency 
staff to ensure familiarity with required voter registrations services during Covered 
Transactions 

 Checklist used by staff at mandatory Section 7 voter registration agencies in Oklahoma, 
such as the Department of Human Services, when providing clients with assistance to 
ensure that voter registration application forms are complete 

 Information sheet used by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services 
when discussing voter registration with clients during Covered Transactions 

 Samples of tally sheets and reporting documents used by state voter registration agencies 
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Voter Preference Form
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Revised 9/9/2020 
 

BASICS FOR DESIGNATED VOTER REGISTRATION AGENCIES 
 

 

 

 

The National Voter Registration Act (NVRA) is a federal law requiring designated agencies to provide “voter registration 
services.” This handout provides general information and guidance about this law to agency staff.   

Requirements 

The NVRA requires agency staff to provide “voter registration services” every time a client: 

• Applies for benefits or services, 
• Renews or recertifies benefits or services, or 
• Requests a change of address 

 

 
What does “voter registration services” mean? 

• Provide the Voter Preference Form. The Voter Preference Form asks clients if they would like to register to 
vote and makes clear that their benefits and services will not be affected by their answer. Completed Voter 
Preference Forms must remain on file in your office for two years. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Provide the Voter Registration Card (VRC). Instructions for completing a VRC can be found on page 2.  

• Help the client register to vote, unless the client declines to register. Provide the same level of assistance 
you would provide with your agency’s own forms. 

• Accept completed VRCs and forward them to the county elections office. VRCs are pre-addressed and 
postage paid and should be forwarded daily. 

Reminders 

• Offer voter registration for all required transactions whether they occur in person or by mail, phone, or online. 

• For clients between the ages of 16 and 17, you may offer them a VRC to fill out in order to pre-register to vote. 

• When the client is a minor (under 16), provide voter registration to the adult applying on behalf of the child. 
 
• The federal Voting Rights Act requires election materials to be available in Spanish and English in all 

California counties. Check with your county elections office on additional languages that may be required.  
 

 

 

• Do not screen applicants for eligibility to vote or discourage voter registration. County elections officials 
carefully verify eligibility before a voter is placed on the rolls. 

• Encourage applicants to register, but do not, in any way, discuss or influence their political party preference. 

Additional Information 
 

 

• People with disabilities may initially decline to register to vote because they are unsure about how they 
may cast a ballot on Election Day.  In California, each polling place has at least one accessible voting 
machine. Voters also have the option of voting by mail.  Counties have remote accessible vote-by-mail 
(RAVBM) systems allowing voters with disabilities to receive their ballots at home and mark them 
independently and privately before sending them back to elections officials.  

 
• People do not need to be able to read, write, or speak English in order to register to vote.  
 
• People may not remember if they are registered to vote and can visit www.voterstatus.sos.ca.gov to 

check their status. When in doubt, a voter can re-register! There is no penalty for re-registering.  

For additional information, please visit: http://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/voter-registration/nvra/training/. 
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BASICS FOR COMPLETING VOTER REGISTRATION CARDS (VRCs) 

Item 1: Voter declaration. The applicant must mark “yes” or “no” to the question of whether or not they are a United 
States citizen and if they will be 18 years old on or before Election Day. To pre-register to vote in California, the 
applicant must mark the box indicating that they are 16 or 17 years old and otherwise meet the eligibility 
requirements to vote. 

Item 2: First name, middle name (or initial), last name, suffix (optional), and title (optional). 

• Should match CA driver license (CDL)/CA identification card (ID Card).

Item 3: Date of birth and CA driver license/ID card number or last four of Social Security Number. 

• Date of birth and U.S. state or foreign country (not county) of birth.

• If the applicant has been issued a CA driver license or an identification card, they MUST list the number.

• If the applicant does not have either, they MUST list the last 4 digits of their Social Security Number.

• If the applicant does not have any of the above, they can still register to vote. Just leave the field blank.

Item 4: Home address, city, zip code, and county name. This should be their “Residential” address. 

• Residence: Place in which the applicant’s habitation is fixed and where the intention is to stay. For voting
purposes, a person can have only ONE residence.

• P.O. Boxes & business addresses are NOT valid here.

• If the applicant does not have a street address, they should enter an exact description of where they live.

• Cross streets, route, box, bridges, or other landmarks can be used.

• Mostly used for applicants living in rural areas with non-specific street addresses. Also
used for applicants who are homeless.

Item 5: Mailing address. The applicant must complete this section if they want to receive election mail at an 
address other than their residence. This can be a P.O. Box or business address. 

Item 6: The applicant should complete this section if they were previously registered and changed their 
address, surname, or political party preference. If the applicant cannot recall their previous address, it can be 
left blank. 

Item 7: To become a permanent vote-by-mail voter, the applicant must check the box marked “yes.” This can be 
left blank if the applicant wants to vote at a polling location. 

Item 8: Political party preference. Mark box to choose any of the political parties listed. If the applicant does 
not want to choose a political party preference, mark the “No Party/None” box. 

• There can be only ONE mark in Item 8 with NO CORRECTIONS or ALTERATIONS. A new VRC must
be filled out if an error is made.

Item 9: Optional Information 

• E-mail address and phone number. These are optional but recommended.

• To receive state materials in another language, mark the language preference box. If no box is checked,
voter materials will be provided in English.

Item 10: This item MUST contain the signature/mark/signature stamp of the applicant. Please also include the date of 
signing. 

Blue Box: Complete this box if you filled out (put pen to paper) some or all of the VRC on behalf of the 
applicant. If you only answered questions or checked if the VRC was complete, do not complete the box. 
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VOTER REGISTRATION APPLICATION CHECKLIST 

Use this checklist to review a filled out voter registration application.  If items marked below with an asterisk (*) appear to 
be missing, tell the applicant that the missing information may delay or prevent approval of the voter registration 
application.  Accept the completed form and send it to the State Election Board whether or not the applicant adds the 
missing information.  Election officials will determine whether the application is valid. 

Section 1 – * Name � Verify that name is complete and legible. 
Section 2 – * Birth Date � A person’s date of birth must be listed. 

x Verify that the year listed is not the current year. 
Section 3 – * Identification
Number 

� Verify that voter has provided one of the following: 
x Oklahoma driver license number or state identification card 

number is required. 
x Last four digits of the Social Security number is required if the 

voter does not have an Oklahoma driver license. 
x Checkmark in the box only if the voter does not have an 

Oklahoma driver license or a Social Security number. 
Section 4 – Political Party � See instructions on application for more information. 

x Make sure ONE box is checked. 
x Do not influence the person’s choice. 

Section 5 – * Street address or
directions to your home 

� 

� 

� 

� 

Complete street address, including 
x number 
x street name 
x type (Street, Drive, Avenue, etc.) 

OR 
Legal description of homestead property 

x Section-Township-Range 
OR 
Directions to residence, including 

x a specific starting point. An intersection of highways or 
a known landmark is a good starting point. The name of 
a town is NOT a good starting point. 

x exact mileage 
x side of road 

See Section 5 instructions on application form for 
an example. 

OR 
A detailed map, including specific starting point, mileage, and side 
of road drawn in the area provided. 

A Post Office Box number is not an acceptable address in 
Section 5.  A Rural Route and Box number may not be an 
acceptable address in Section 5.   

Section 6 – Mailing Address � * If a legal description, directions, or a map is given in Section 5, a
mailing address must be listed here. 

Section 7 – County of Residence � Applicant has written county in which he/she resides. 
Section 8 – Have you been
registered to vote before?  

� If “yes,” details about the former registration should be given.  
See instructions on application form for more information. 

Section 9 – * Oath. � 
� 

The two questions printed above the Oath are answered. 
* The application must be signed and dated.







Multiple States

Several samples of tally sheets and reporting 
materials used by state voter registration agencies
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Most Important Elements of Program to Provide Voter Registration Services 
 
There are three important steps when an agency, like IHS, is providing voter registration services 
to their clients: 
 

I. distribute voter registration application forms to their clients; 
II. assist clients with completing the voter registration application form; and 
III. transmit any completed voter registration forms to the appropriate election officials. 

 
I. Distribution: 

 
• All clients should be provided voter registration services each time they complete a 

transaction with the agency that involves an initial application or request for services or 
benefits, a renewal of benefits or services, or reports a change of address.  
• The NVRA does not require that designated federal agencies, like IHS facilities, ask 

clients a voter registration question, but the practices from state voter registration 
agencies of asking a yes/no question about whether the client wants to register to vote 
and providing explanatory materials about voter registration provide good models for 
how federal agencies can determine if clients do or do not want to register to vote. 
 

• The most helpful points from the NVRA that designated federal agencies, like IHS 
facilities, could provide clients as part of the explanatory materials are: 

o Applying to register or declining to register to vote will not affect the amount of 
assistance that a client will receive from the agency, and their answer to any voter 
registration question will be kept confidential; 

o The agency will provide assistance in filling out the voter registration application 
form, if the client so chooses; and 

o No one should interfere with a client’s right to register or to decline to register to 
vote, their right to privacy in deciding whether to register or in applying to 
register to vote, or their right to choose their own political party or other political 
preference. 

• For IHS, the intake or check-in process is an excellent place to offer patients voter 
registration services. Patients can be asked whether they are registered to vote at their current 
address, and if not if they want to register to vote as part of the intake process.  

o If the intake process happens in person at the IHS facility, the staff member 
conducting this intake can ask the voter registration question after collecting the 
other relevant information. If the patient is interested, staff can then provide a 
voter registration form and offer to provide assistance filling out the form, if the 
patient desires it.  

o If the facility needs to move patients through intake quickly, this staff person 
could also send the patient to a separate designated staff member for help filling 
out the form and move on to intake for the next patient.  

o If intake happens over the phone before the visit, the IHS staff person making the 
call can ask the voter registration question and let the patient know someone will 
be available to offer assistance filling out the voter registration form when they 
come in for their appointment.  



 2 

o If patients complete the intake process online before their visit, a question about 
voter registration and a note that someone will be available to offer assistance 
filling out the voter registration form when they come in for their appointment can 
be added to the application process.  

o For existing patients, a similar process can be utilized during the check-in process. 
As the IHS staff member checks to ensure the patient’s insurance is up to date, 
they can also ask if they have moved, changed their name, or otherwise may need 
to update their voter registration, or if they’re not registered to vote already, if 
they want to register for the first time.  

II. Provide Assistance to Clients Completing Voter Registration Applications: 
 
• In addition to distributing voter registration applications, the agencies must provide 

assistance to clients in completing their voter registration application. See the below points 
about the training that can and should be provided to help staff render this assistance. 

 
• Assistance should include: 

o affirmatively asking all clients if they want help with their voter registration 
application; 

o offering assistance with the voter registration form, similar to any assistance the 
agencies already provide to clients in completing the forms clients use to receive 
agency services; and 

o ensuring that clients have completed and signed their voter registration application.  
o Verifying that voter registration application forms are complete does not require 

any special expertise as it involves only a few simple checks. 
 
III. Collection/Transmission: 
 
• When an agency collects complete voter registration applications, the application forms must 

be transmitted to state election officials in a timely way.  
o The NVRA requires that all voter registration applications be submitted to state 

election officials no more than 10 days after the date the agency accepts the 
application. This time is shortened when a registration application is collected 
within 5 days before the last day for registration to vote in an election. In that 
case, the application must be transmitted to the appropriate State election official 
no later than 5 days after the date of acceptance. 

 
• During in-person transactions, agency officials of designated federal agencies, like IHS 

facilities, should establish a system to collect the forms and deliver them to the appropriate 
state or local election officials. Most state voter registration agencies create a central location 
in the office to deposit the completed forms and then task a specific member of the agency 
staff to either hand deliver or mail all the completed forms to relevant election officials once 
a week, with more frequent delivery closer to voter registration deadlines before federal 
elections. The current names and addresses of the relevant state election officials are usually 
printed on the state voter registration applications and are included for all states with the 
instructions for the National Mail Voter Registration Form (“NMVRF”). 
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Training: 
• Training agency staff to carry out their responsibilities in assisting clients with voter 

registration is an important component in effective implementation. Training staff to follow 
these simple procedures, and to answer applicants’ voter registration questions, can be 
accomplished in about 30 minutes, and thus is not a significant burden.  

o Most state voter registration agencies provide training once a year to all of their 
agency employees who provide voter registrations services, and as a part of the 
on-boarding training for all new employees.  

 
• Trainings for staff engaged in voter registration with patients should include: 

o At a conceptual level, the link between physical and mental health and civic 
engagement, especially voting; the importance of ensuring all eligible people have 
access to registration and voting; the significant and persistent registration gaps faced 
by American Indian and Alaska Native communities; and the role IHS can play in 
removing barriers to democratic participation.  

o General information about who is eligible to register to vote in the state, including 
that an individual must be a U.S. citizen to vote. 

 Note that IHS staff themselves are not responsible for determining eligibility 
nor liable if an ineligible person registers to vote. Election officials themselves 
are responsible for reviewing voter registration applications and verifying 
eligibility. 

o How to ask a question about voter registration in the healthcare context, i.e., when 
patients are focused on the purpose of their health appointment.  

o The specific processes an IHS facility has developed for: 

 Asking the voter registration question;  
 Distributing voter registration applications to interested patients; 
 Offering assistance in completing the application to interested patients; 
 Collecting and storing completed applications, as applicable; and  
 Transmitting it to elections officials, as applicable. 

o Description of the fields in the voter registration application, including which fields 
are required for the registration to be complete and accepted, and what information 
should be supplied for each required field. 

o Answers to commonly asked questions about filling out the voter registration 
application and about voting. 

o Information on how clients can contact state or local election officials if they have 
additional questions about voter registration or voting.1  

 
1 Contact information is maintained by the General Services Agency on USA.gov, https://www.usa.gov/election-office. 
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 If clients have any questions about their eligibility to vote other than questions 
about the age requirements and being a U.S. citizen, staff can refer them to 
state or local election officials for assistance, and allow the client to take the 
voter registration form with them for completion once their question is 
resolved. 

o How to ensure that the voter registration application is completely filled out and 
legible, before accepting and transmitting the application to the appropriate election 
official. 

o The importance of making clear to patients that voter registration is voluntary—they 
are not required to register to vote to obtain services. 

o The strict prohibition on partisanship and the strict rules around confidentiality. 

• It is important to ensure that all voter registration services provided to clients are non-
partisan. Any person who provides voter registration assistance should be trained that they 
should not: 

o seek to influence an applicant’s political preference or party registration; 
o display any such political preference or party allegiance; 
o make any statement to an applicant or take any action with the purpose or effect of 

discouraging the applicant from registering to vote; or 
o make any statement to an applicant or take any action with the purpose or effect of 

leading an applicant to believe that a decision to register or not to register has any 
bearing on the availability of services or benefits. 

Other helpful points: 

Appoint a Voter Registration Coordinator:  

One of the primary ways to ensure effective voter registration at IHS facilities is to appoint a 
“voter registration coordinator” within each facility, whose responsibility it is to ensure high-
quality voter registration services are provided to all eligible patients. This need not be a full-
time position; voter registration oversight can likely be added to the duties of a staff member 
who is already playing a supervisory or oversight role within an IHS facility. Having an 
appointed voter registration coordinator can make the difference between effective voter 
registration efforts—i.e., registration that is convenient, efficient for the facility, and simple for 
patients to navigate and, as a result, maximizes the number of Native American voters added to 
the registration rolls—and ineffective efforts.  

• The voter registration coordinator should have additional training, beyond the annual training 
for other staff involved in offering voter registration services, and their duties should include:  

o Ensuring adequate training for all agency staff engaged in providing voter registration 
services, via an initial training at the point of hire and an annual refresher training like 
that described above. 

o Being responsible for maintaining voter registration supplies (such as blank voter 
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registration applications). 

o Ensuring voter registration services are being offered during relevant transactions and 
providing quality control of those services. 

o Setting up and monitoring a system for delivering completed applications to election 
officials, as applicable. 

o Collecting and making publicly available data on the number of people submitting 
registration applications through the program or agency. 

Paper Voter Registration Application Supply: 
 
• Agencies can easily obtain blank forms from state election officials. Most states have a PDF 

of the state voter registration form on the chief election official’s website that can be 
downloaded and printed.  Here are the links for the voter registration forms for Montana and 
New Mexico found on their SOS’s websites: 

 
https://portal.sos.state.nm.us/ovr/VRForms/VRFormEnglishFinal.pdf 
 
https://sosmt.gov/wp-content/uploads/Montana_Voter_Registration_Application.pdf  
 
• State election officials may also be willing to directly provide hard copies of the state voter 

registrations forms to any IHS facility that requests them, as they currently do with state 
voter registration agencies.  

 
• Additionally, facilities could also distribute the National Mail Voter Registration Form, which 

is accepted by almost every state that requires voter registration.  That form can be found on 
the Election Assistance Commission’s website at 
https://www.eac.gov/sites/default/files/eac_assets/1/6/Federal_Voter_Registration_ENG.pdf.  

 
Tracking and Reporting: 
 
• Ideally, any IHS facility that is providing voter registration services would also track data 

related to this work, including at a minimum the number of completed voter registration 
forms collected from clients and transmitted to election officials. This data should be shared 
with state election officials, IHS officials and hopefully also tribal officials. 

 
• Some state voter registration agencies simply do a weekly hand tally of how many voter 

registration applications they collect and provide to election officials. Any designated IHS 
facility could also use such a tally system. 
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The National Congress of American Indians 

Resolution #ANC-22-038 
 

TITLE: Encouraging Indian Health Service Providers to Seek Designation as 

National Voter Registration Act (NVRA) Designated Sites 

 
WHEREAS, we, the members of the National Congress of American Indians 

of the United States, invoking the divine blessing of the Creator upon our efforts and 

purposes, in order to preserve for ourselves and our descendants the inherent sovereign 

rights of our Indian nations, rights secured under Indian treaties and agreements with 

the United States, and all other rights and benefits to which we are entitled under the 

laws and Constitution of the United States and the United Nations Declaration on the 

Rights of Indigenous Peoples, to enlighten the public toward a better understanding of 

the Indian people, to preserve Indian cultural values, and otherwise promote the health, 

safety and welfare of the Indian people, do hereby establish and submit the following 

resolution; and 

 

WHEREAS, the National Congress of American Indians (NCAI) was 

established in 1944 and is the oldest and largest national organization of American 

Indian and Alaska Native tribal governments; and 

  

WHEREAS, over 30 percent of eligible Native American voters remain 

unregistered to vote in federal and state elections; and   

 

WHEREAS, many Native Americans do not have regular access to county 

seats and other state registration services due to geographic distances, lack of access 

to transportation, and poor roads; and   

 

WHEREAS, many Native Americans do not have access to other National 

Voter Registration Act (NVRA) designated sites such as state motor vehicle agencies, 

likewise due to geographic isolation, lack of access to transportation, and poor roads; 

and   

WHEREAS, many Native Americans do not have access to NVRA designated 

sites such as state public assistance agencies because at times public assistance is 

provided through federal programs in fulfillment of treaty obligations; and   

 

WHEREAS, the Indian Health Service (IHS) providers interact regularly with 

eligible unregistered Native American voters; and   

 

WHEREAS, other health service providers such as Medicaid have provided 

registration services to eligible voters; and   

 

WHEREAS, NVRA designation means a provider will provide a meaningful 

registration opportunity to an eligible voter in coordination with Secretary of States 

who will process received applications.   
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NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the National Congress of American Indians 

(NCAI) urges IHS providers to become NVRA designated sites that provide registration opportunities 

to eligible Native Americans and encourages Tribal Nations that compact IHS responsibilities to 

likewise become NVRA designated sites; and  

 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that this resolution shall be the policy of NCAI until it is 

withdrawn or modified by subsequent resolution.  

 

CERTIFICATION 

 

The foregoing resolution was adopted by the General Assembly at the Mid Year Conference of the 

National Congress of American Indians, held in Anchorage, Alaska from June 12-16, 2022 with a 

quorum present. 

 

 

 

 

              

Fawn Sharp, President  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Stephen Roe Lewis, Recording Secretary  

 



From: Jacqueline De Leon
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Ashley Tjhung; Sarah Brannon; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: RE: EO 14019 Update
Date: Friday, November 3, 2023 6:51:52 PM

SO EXCITING!
 
Thank you, Josh!!
 
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Friday, November 3, 2023 4:49 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: Fwd: EO 14019 Update
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

FYI 
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
 
 

From: "Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)" <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: EO 14019 Update
Date: 03 November 2023 18:43
To: "Justin.W.Vail@who.eop.gov" <Justin.W.Vail@who.eop.gov>, "Reese, Elizabeth A. EOP/WHO"
<Elizabeth.A.Reese@who.eop.gov>, "Molle-Carr, Elizabeth E. EOP/OMB" <Elizabeth.E.Molle-
Carr@omb.eop.gov>, "Tso, Roselyn (IHS/HQ)" <Roselyn.Tso@ihs.gov>, "Gerwin, Mikaela D.
EOP/WHO" <Mikaela.D.Gerwin@who.eop.gov>
Cc: "Sullivan, Meg (HHS/IOS)" <Meg.Sullivan@hhs.gov>, "Arguello, Andres (OS/IOS)"
<Andres.Arguello@hhs.gov>

All,
 
More good news on a Friday. Daniel Cox, CEO of the Santa Fe Service Unit, just informed me that
their governing board has signed off on NVRA designation. As I mentioned before, because of SFSU’s
unique nature, they had to work individually  with each of the nine Pueblos to get sign off. That
occurred this week. The Secretary of State has the designation ready to be issued and should be

(b) (6)



signed in short order. 
 
I will follow up with more details as I get them regarding possible event/ceremony/press. 
 
Best,
Josh 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
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From: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ)
To: Ashley Tjhung; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Subject: RE: Follow-up on EO 14019
Date: Tuesday, December 5, 2023 2:53:12 PM

Added.
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, December 5, 2023 2:51 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ)
<Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov>
Subject: Re: Follow-up on EO 14019
 
Would you mind adding our partners from NCAI as well? cklar@ncai.org smitrovich@ncai.org
 

From: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) <Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov> on behalf of Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, December 5, 2023 10:12 AM
To: Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB) <kerry@nativelifelines.org>; Woodard, Micah (IHS/POR)
<Micah.Woodard@ihs.gov>; Tori Whipple <Tori.Whipple@gptchb.org>; Jacqueline Yotter
<jacqueline.yotter@gptchb.org>; Crowe, Darren J. (IHS/BIL) <Darren.Crowe@ihs.gov>; Rockabove,
Ashley (IHS/BIL) <Ashley.Rockabove2@ihs.gov>; Johnson, Hope (IHS/PHX) <Hope.Johnson@ihs.gov>;
Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>; Atene, Audra (IHS/NAV/AO)
<Audra.Atene@ihs.gov>; Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW) <Daniel.Sherron@ihs.gov>; Scott, Travis
(IHS/OKC/AO) <Travis.Scott@ihs.gov>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung
<ATjhung@demos.org>
Cc: Amiotte, Joe (IHS/ABR/AO) <Joseph.Amiotte@ihs.gov>; Begay, Duwayne (IHS/NAV)
<Duwayne.Begay@ihs.gov>; Castagna, Evangelyn (IHS/AKA) <Evangelyn.Castagna@ihs.gov>; Cotton,
Beverly (IHS/NAS/AO) <Beverly.Cotton@ihs.gov>; Frye, Daniel (IHS/BEM/AO) <Daniel.Frye@ihs.gov>;
Gaikowski, Dixie (IHS/TUC) <Dixie.Gaikowski@ihs.gov>; Martinez, Marcus C (IHS/POR)
<Marcus.Martinez@ihs.gov>; Miller, Beverly (IHS/CAL/AO) <Beverly.Miller@ihs.gov>; Redgrave,
Bryce (IHS/BIL) <Bryce.Redgrave@ihs.gov>; Reidhead, Ty (IHS/PHX) <Ty.Reidhead@ihs.gov>;
Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>; Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO)
<Travis.Watts@ihs.gov>
Subject: Follow-up on EO 14019
When: Thursday, December 7, 2023 12:00 PM-12:45 PM.
Where: 

 
Purpose: Follow-up on EO 14019.
---------------------------------------
Join ZoomGov Meeting

Meeting ID: 

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)



Passcode: 
Dial by your location
•  US (New York)
 
------------------------------------

(b) (6)

(b) (6)



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Re: Follow-up on EO 14019
Date: Tuesday, December 5, 2023 2:50:57 PM

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
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison

Neswood
Subject: Re: Native Health Open House
Date: Thursday, October 5, 2023 5:04:20 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Thanks for the update, that's great to hear! So exciting to see the first few designations come
together 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Thursday, October 5, 2023 1:08 PM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: FW: Native Health Open House
 
Fingers crossed, but it looks like the first one will be online. I will be in Phoenix that weekend to
attend the event and get some photo ops.
 
Josh
 
 

From: Susan F. Levy <slevy@nachci.com> 
Sent: Monday, October 2, 2023 9:06 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Murillo, Walter <WMurillo@nachci.com>
Subject: Re: Native Health Open House
 
Hi Joshuah,
 
Thank you for getting back to us. The Open House is on Saturday, October 14. Here's the JPG:
 



Talk to you soon.
 
Susan 
 
 
 
Susan Levy
NATIVE HEALTH
4041 North Central Avenue, Building C
Phoenix, Arizona  85012
(602) 279-5262 x 11027
slevy@nachci.com
www.nativehealthphoenix.org

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>



Sent: Monday, October 2, 2023 6:02 PM
To: Susan F. Levy <slevy@nachci.com>
Cc: Walter Murillo <WMurillo@nachci.com>
Subject: Re: Native Health Open House
 

Great news! Can you remind me the date for the Open House? 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile:
 
 

From: "Susan F. Levy" <slevy@nachci.com>
Subject: Native Health Open House
Date: 02 October 2023 20:00
To: "Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)" <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: "Murillo, Walter" <WMurillo@nachci.com>

Hi Joshuah,
 
Thank you for your email. We are getting closer to being having the NVRA Designation. I just
received the NVRA contract a few minutes ago and our Compliance Director is reviewing it. I
am hopeful this will be in place for the Open House. We're moving ahead as if this will be in
place.  
 
I hope to have more info in the next day or two. 

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
Sent: Monday, October 2, 2023 12:29 PM
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To: Susan F. Levy <slevy@nachci.com>
Cc: Walter Murillo <WMurillo@nachci.com>
Subject: Native Health Open House
 
Hello Susan,
 
Hope you are doing well. I am sure you were following the news over the weekend, so we are in a
different space today than I think a lot of us thought we would be on Friday re: government funding.
 
I know you have your Native Health Open House and you do a lot of voter registration/engagement
then. And there was talk about possible having some sort of declaration—or hopefully NVRA
designation—at the event. Do you have any updates on that? If the NVRA part is a go, I would love to
attend and invite Dr. Reidhead. I will need to make travel plans soon if that is the case.
 
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
Subject: RE: NAV, NAS, GPA, PDX, OKC call tomorrow
Date: Thursday, September 28, 2023 3:40:46 PM
Attachments: image001.png

I can make it, thanks!
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2023 12:59 PM
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

Thank you Ashley. I will add you to the list as well as others in case they can join as able.
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2023 2:15 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Jacqueline De Leon
<JDeLeon@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: Re: NAV, NAS, GPA, PDX, OKC call tomorrow
 
Hi Josh, I am able to attend! Please forward the cal invite, thanks for continuing to include us in
these meetings. 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2023 12:50 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: NAV, NAS, GPA, PDX, OKC call tomorrow
 
Hi All,
 
Very last minute, but would any of you want to join the call I am having with the Area Directors and
leadership of the sites for the next group of candidates for designation? I find someone from this
group is able to better answer some of the technical questions. It is tomorrow from 3:30pm to 4pm
EDT. We can try to reschedule for earlier next week if that doesn’t work.
 
Great Plains Area and Oyate Health Care (SD)
Nashville Area and Native Lifelines (MD)



Portland Area and Western Oregon Service Unit (OR)
Navajo Area and either Chinle Service Unit (AZ) or Gallup Indian Medical Center (NM)
Oklahoma City Area and Wewoka Indian Health Center (OK).
 
Thanks
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
Date: Thursday, September 28, 2023 2:14:57 PM
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
 

 



From: Ryan Seelau
To: Ashley Tjhung
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; Saundra Mitrovich; Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF); Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB); Sarah Brannon; Allison

Neswood
Subject: Re: New Mexico SOS Meeting
Date: Friday, July 14, 2023 4:56:50 PM

I can make that work.

Ryan

On Fri, Jul 14, 2023 at 4:11 PM Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> wrote:

Works for me as well.

 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Friday, July 14, 2023 4:11 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Cc: Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>; Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>;
Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: RE: New Mexico SOS Meeting

 

MT? Yes, that works for me.

 

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> 
Sent: Friday, July 14, 2023 4:06 PM
To: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>;
Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: Re: New Mexico SOS Meeting

 

Thanks, Saundra. I can also make any time. Given Daniel’s availability does it work for everyone else to make the 10:30
on Friday? 

 

Sent from my iPhone

 

On Jul 14, 2023, at 1:51 PM, Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org> wrote:

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Greetings! I can make any of those times work for next Friday.  Just let me know. Thank you, Jacqueline. 

 

Sincerely,

 



Saundra Mitrovich, she/her
(Tyme/Yahmonee Maidu)

 

Director, External Engagement

National Congress of American Indians
Embassy of Tribal Nations

1516 P St NW, Washington, DC 20005

Cell: 

www.ncai.org

 

 

On Thu, Jul 13, 2023 at 5:31 PM Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> wrote:

Hi All,

 

We are looking forward to moving forward with Santa Fe IHS. Apologies for referencing the ABQ IHS.
We will be sure to clear it up. We’ve heard back from the Secretary of State’s office who is eager to
connect. The times that work for them is next Friday, 7/21 at either 10:00 am; 10:30 am, or 1:30 pm (all
MT times).  Please let us know which of those times work for you and we will connect us all.

 

Thanks,

 

 

Jacqueline De León

Senior Attorney

Native American Rights Fund 
250 Arapahoe
Boulder, CO 80302-6296

jdeleon@narf.org

P:303-447-8760

F:303-443-7776

 

<image001.jpg>

 

THIS MESSAGE IS INTENDED ONLY FOR THE INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY TO WHICH IT IS
ADDRESSED AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS CONFIDENTIAL, PRIVILEGED,
AND EXEMPT FROM DISCLOSURE. IF YOU ARE NOT THE INTENDED RECIPIENT, PLEASE
DELETE IT FROM YOUR SYSTEM WITHOUT COPYING, PRINTING OR FORWARDING IT,
AND NOTIFY US BY REPLY EMAIL OR BY CALLING 303-447-8760.  THANK YOU.
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-- 

Ryan Seelau
Director, Policy & Legal

202.276.8054

National Congress of American Indians  
Embassy of Tribal Nations

1516 P St NW, Washington, DC 20005

www.ncai.org

         



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; Saundra Mitrovich
Cc: Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF); Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB); Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: RE: New Mexico SOS Meeting
Date: Friday, July 14, 2023 4:11:49 PM

Works for me as well.
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Friday, July 14, 2023 4:11 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Cc: Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>; Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>; Ashley Tjhung
<ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: RE: New Mexico SOS Meeting
 
MT? Yes, that works for me.
 

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> 
Sent: Friday, July 14, 2023 4:06 PM
To: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>; Thomas, Leonard
(IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison
Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: Re: New Mexico SOS Meeting
 
Thanks, Saundra. I can also make any time. Given Daniel’s availability does it work for everyone else to make the 10:30 on Friday? 
 
Sent from my iPhone
 

On Jul 14, 2023, at 1:51 PM, Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org> wrote:

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open attachments
unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

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
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We are looking forward to moving forward with Santa Fe IHS. Apologies for referencing the ABQ IHS. We will be
sure to clear it up. We’ve heard back from the Secretary of State’s office who is eager to connect. The times that
work for them is next Friday, 7/21 at either 10:00 am; 10:30 am, or 1:30 pm (all MT times).  Please let us know
which of those times work for you and we will connect us all.
 
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
ADDRESSED AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS CONFIDENTIAL, PRIVILEGED, AND
EXEMPT FROM DISCLOSURE. IF YOU ARE NOT THE INTENDED RECIPIENT, PLEASE DELETE IT
FROM YOUR SYSTEM WITHOUT COPYING, PRINTING OR FORWARDING IT, AND NOTIFY US BY
REPLY EMAIL OR BY CALLING 303-447-8760.  THANK YOU.
 



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Saundra Mitrovich; Jacqueline De Leon
Cc: Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF); Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB); Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: RE: New Mexico SOS Meeting
Date: Friday, July 21, 2023 10:55:12 AM

Hi Joshuah,
 
Yes, it’s been scheduled for today at 10:30 MT/12:30 ET. Please let me know if you’re having trouble viewing the calendar
invite, on my end it says you’ve been invited.
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 20, 2023 11:13 AM
To: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Cc: Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>; Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>; Ashley
Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: RE: New Mexico SOS Meeting
 
I might have missed it, but has this been scheduled? Thanks.
 
From: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org> 
Sent: Friday, July 14, 2023 3:49 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>; Thomas,
Leonard (IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon
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
 
We are looking forward to moving forward with Santa Fe IHS. Apologies for referencing the ABQ IHS. We will be sure to
clear it up. We’ve heard back from the Secretary of State’s office who is eager to connect. The times that work for them
is next Friday, 7/21 at either 10:00 am; 10:30 am, or 1:30 pm (all MT times).  Please let us know which of those times
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work for you and we will connect us all.
 
Thanks,
 
 
Jacqueline De León
Senior Attorney
Native American Rights Fund 
250 Arapahoe
Boulder, CO 80302-6296
jdeleon@narf.org
P:303-447-8760
F:303-443-7776
 

 
THIS MESSAGE IS INTENDED ONLY FOR THE INDIVIDUAL OR ENTITY TO WHICH IT IS ADDRESSED
AND MAY CONTAIN INFORMATION THAT IS CONFIDENTIAL, PRIVILEGED, AND EXEMPT FROM
DISCLOSURE. IF YOU ARE NOT THE INTENDED RECIPIENT, PLEASE DELETE IT FROM YOUR
SYSTEM WITHOUT COPYING, PRINTING OR FORWARDING IT, AND NOTIFY US BY REPLY EMAIL OR
BY CALLING 303-447-8760.  THANK YOU.
 



From: Jacqueline De Leon
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Ashley Tjhung
Subject: RE: NM SoS
Date: Thursday, February 22, 2024 1:36:55 PM

My understanding is she believes this is going forward and had no indication it wasn’t. I didn’t ask
her to nudge the individual facilities. Should we nudge the facilities first and then follow up with her
to see if she would nudge them in the event they don’t have an update?
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, February 22, 2024 11:35 AM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Subject: NM SoS
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello,
Were you able to get a response/movement on the SoS of NM on your side?
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS
Mobile: 
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From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; Sarah Brannon
Subject: Re: NVRA and Great Plains Area
Date: Wednesday, November 29, 2023 1:42:05 PM

Hi Josh,

Oyate Health did reach out, I emailed them back to today to set up some time to talk. Hopefully will
be able to set that up quickly. Jacqueline or Sarah, any thoughts on the other questions? 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Tuesday, November 28, 2023 4:20 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: RE: NVRA and Great Plains Area
 
Including the correct Ashley. I included another one working on the Crow Service Unit—too busy
multitasking while at the STAC meeting.
 

 
 
I hope you all had a great holiday and holiday weekend.
 
Just sharing that the Great Plains Area will also look at potential other sites in Iowa and Nebraska
due to some concerns over feasibility in South Dakota. Did the leads for Oyate Health in Rapid City
reach out yet?
 
Of IA or NE unsure if you have ideas or leads, but wanted to send your way.
 
Also, RADM Watts is going to explore options in Kansas since the OK Election Board is somewhat
stonewalling. But you did mention you were researching other avenues/points of contact. Any news
on that front?
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 

From: Amiotte, Joe (IHS/ABR/AO) <Joseph.Amiotte@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 28, 2023 12:52 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: NVRA and Great Plains Area
 
Good morning Joshua,
 
I apologize for the late response.  I will get you a contact for Iowa and Nebraska today.
 



Joe
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Friday, November 17, 2023 11:22 AM
To: Amiotte, Joe (IHS/ABR/AO) <Joseph.Amiotte@ihs.gov>
Subject: NVRA and Great Plains Area
 

Hey Joe,
 
Great to see you this week. And thank you for being a pinch-hitter for Dan for the game show
Thursday.
 
I wanted to quickly touch base on the voting EO. Ms. Church identified the leads for Oyate Health
around this area of work and they have been in contact with NARF and other nonprofit partners. 
 
However, they did flag they are worried about South Dakota in terms of the leadership of the state
and the political context. We will still press ahead, but wanted to see if you could identify sites in
Nebraska and Iowa that could be candidates? Unfortunately, ND is not eligible for NVRA as they
were exempted in the act (as well as DC and four other states). 
 
Please let me know by Tuesday next week. 
 
Thanks,
Josh 
 

--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
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From: Sarah Brannon
To: Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Cc: Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB)
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
Date: Friday, January 12, 2024 1:08:01 PM

Yes I also thought it was productive call, and they seem persuaded that this was a good idea,
which is great.

Ashley just let me know what I can do to help with the memo.

thanks
Sarah

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Sent: Friday, January 12, 2024 12:45 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <jdeleon@narf.org>; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB) <Kerry@nativelifelines.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
 
Hi everyone, 

I removed the SBE staff member from the thread so we can coordinate on the memo. Kerry, if it's
helpful, I'm happy to take a first pass at drafting and we can send to you to finalize and add in Native
Lifelines specific information on funding, population served etc. Overall, that seemed promising, glad
we got them to a spot where they were interested in pursuing a designation. 

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Sent: Thursday, December 14, 2023 2:53 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB) <kerry@nativelifelines.org>; Katherine Berry
<katherine.berry@maryland.gov>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley Tjhung
<ATjhung@demos.org>
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
 
That works for me as well. We are looking forward to connecting! 

On Dec 14, 2023, at 11:44 AM, Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
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
I can do noon on the 12th.
 
 

From: Kerry Lessard <Kerry@nativelifelines.org> 
Sent: Thursday, December 14, 2023 2:39 PM
To: Katherine Berry <katherine.berry@maryland.gov>
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; JDeLeon@narf.org; Sarah
Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
 
Does noon on January 12 work for everyone? 
 
 
Sent from my iPhone

On Dec 14, 2023, at 4:51 AM, Katherine Berry
<katherine.berry@maryland.gov> wrote:

Good Morning,
 
Unfortunately, we have pretty booked calendars, but I did come across
8am or 12pm on January 12 or January 29 at 10am?

Katherine Berry
Deputy Administrator

Maryland State Board of Elections
(410)269-2843 (w)/  (c)
elections.maryland.gov
 
 
On Wed, Dec 13, 2023 at 2:20 PM Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> wrote:

Good afternoon,
 
As of now that week is pretty much free. So please send along times
that work for you. I’d note, it would be great if we could meet sooner
than that, but I understand how busy you must be.
 
Best,
Josh
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From: Kerry Lessard <Kerry@nativelifelines.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, December 13, 2023 1:22 PM
To: Katherine Berry <katherine.berry@maryland.gov>; Marshall,
Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: jdeleon@narf.org; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley
Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
 
Katherine,
 
Thank you for your reply. I can certainly make myself
available. I defer to others but I know this is a priority for the
Indian Health Service, which makes it a priority for me as
well.
 
Warmly,
 
Kerry Hawk Lessard, MAA (she/her)
Executive Director
 
Native American LifeLines
1 E. Franklin Street, Suite 200
Baltimore, MD 21202
(phone) 410-837-2258 x103
(fax) 410-837-2692
 
Native American LifeLines is a Title V Urban Indian Health
Program (UIHP) serving Baltimore and Boston metropolitan
areas and contracting with the Indian Health Service. This
contract is administered by the Indian Health Service
Nashville Area Office (IHS/NAO).
 
Be sure to follow us on facebook and instagram!
 
A Self Care Note: Your work day/hours may not be the same as mine.
So please don't feel obligated to respond outside of your normal
working hours.
 
 
 

From: Katherine Berry <katherine.berry@maryland.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, December 13, 2023 12:08 PM



To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Kerry Lessard <Kerry@nativelifelines.org>; jdeleon@narf.org
<jdeleon@narf.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley
Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
 
Good Afternoon,
 
My sincerest apologies for the delay in response. Would you be
available to meet virtually the week of January 29? 
 
Kind Regards,

Katherine Berry
Deputy Administrator

Maryland State Board of Elections
(410)269-2843 (w)/  (c)
elections.maryland.gov
 
 
On Tue, Dec 12, 2023 at 4:15 PM Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> wrote:

Good afternoon all,
 
Just circling back on this. It would be great to get something
scheduled before the end of the year. Please let me know if I can
provide any pre-meeting materials to help.
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director
Indian Health Service
5600 Fishers Lane (Mailstop 08E37)
Rockville, MD 20857
301.443.1083
joshuah.marshall@ihs.gov
 
<image001.png>
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From: Kerry Lessard <Kerry@nativelifelines.org> 
Sent: Thursday, November 30, 2023 12:54 PM
To: Katherine Berry <Katherine.Berry@maryland.gov>
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>;
jdeleon@narf.org; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley
Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
 
Good afternoon, Katherine:
 
Would it be possible to schedule a meeting with myself
and colleagues from the Indian Health Service (IHS) and
Native American Rights Foundation (NARF)?
 
It is a priority of the Indian Health Service to have our
programs participate in this process. While mandatory
agencies are listed in the act, Native American LifeLines is
seeking voluntary designation as provided for in the act,
and we hope we can discuss. 
 
Please suggests some times you may be available.
 
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
Program (UIHP) serving Baltimore and Boston
metropolitan areas and contracting with the Indian Health
Service. This contract is administered by the Indian Health
Service Nashville Area Office (IHS/NAO).
 
Be sure to follow us on facebook and instagram!
 
 
 

From: Katherine Berry <katherine.berry@maryland.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, November 15, 2023 7:04 PM



To: Kerry Lessard <Kerry@nativelifelines.org>
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>;
jdeleon@narf.org <jdeleon@narf.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
 
Ms. Lessard,
 
Thank you for your email. We are happy to hear that you would like
to start integrating the voter registration process into your intake
procedures. Agencies that are part of the NVRA were included in
Federal legislation and an amendment to that would have to include
your agency.
 
If you would like to integrate to just make a trackable way to get
statistics about people who have utilized this process, we can
provide a unique link to your agency to access our online voter
registration system which would allow us to provide you with
monthly statistics. If you would like to be more integrated like MVA
and the Maryland Health Benefits Exchange, this would require
approval of our Board and subsequent significant hours of
development time behind the scenes which may be difficult just
before the 2024 election cycle kicks into full gear. Further, Maryland
is an automatic registration state and certain agencies are built into
the Maryland law regarding who is required to participate in that
program. It could be something to look into further. 
 
I am happy to continue this conversation and work through the best
course of action as we welcome new partnerships with voter
outreach and registration efforts. 
 
Kind Regards,
 
Katherine Berry
Deputy State Administrator

Maryland State Board of Elections
(410)269-2843 (w)/  (c)
elections.maryland.gov
 
 
On Tue, Nov 14, 2023 at 12:18 PM Kerry Lessard
<Kerry@nativelifelines.org> wrote:

Good afternoon, Katherine:
 
My name is Kerry Hawk Lessard, I am the Executive
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Director of Native American LifeLines, a Title V Indian
Health Services contracted Urban Indian Health
Program serving the Baltimore and Boston metropolitan
areas. We are hoping to begin integrating voter
registration into our intake procedures and are interested
in seeking NVRA designation. CC:ed on this email are
Josh Marshall with IHS and a few others from some
nonprofits that have assisted with the technical aspect of
designation in other states. Would you be available to
discuss this further?
 
Thank you very much,
 
Kerry Hawk Lessard, MAA (she/her)
Executive Director
 
Native American LifeLines
1 E. Franklin Street, Suite 200
Baltimore, MD 21202
(phone) 410-837-2258 x103
(fax) 410-837-2692
 
Native American LifeLines is a Title V Urban Indian
Health Program (UIHP) serving Baltimore and Boston
metropolitan areas and contracting with the Indian
Health Service. This contract is administered by the
Indian Health Service Nashville Area Office (IHS/NAO).
 
Be sure to follow us on facebook and instagram!
 
 
 



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Cc: Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB); Sarah Brannon
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
Date: Friday, January 12, 2024 12:45:43 PM

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
(410)269-2843 (w)/ (c)
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
(410)269-2843 (w)/  (c)(b) (6)



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
 
 
 



From: Kerry Lessard
To: Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Cc: Sarah Brannon
Subject: Re: NVRA Design
Date: Friday, January 12, 2024 1:50:12 PM

Ashley (and everyone), thank you. That would be helpful. I can also provide
information on our census and budget since that seemed important to them.

I admit I was a bit surprised by the suggestion that our small population size renders
us less important. Also, I can give you additional information on our community that
may or may not be helpful.

I finished my tenure on the Maryland Commission on Indian Affairs in December and
have good relationships with the Director and Chair, who is the only Commissioner to
roll over in the new administration. We could likely have a champion in State Senator
Johnny Salling, who is Lumbee and a former BOD Member of NAL.

I hope that they do see how NVRA designation could help engage a population that
often feels forgotten. 

Warmly,

Kerry Hawk Lessard, MAA (she/her)
Executive Director

Native American LifeLines
1 E. Franklin Street, Suite 200
Baltimore, MD 21202
(phone) 410-837-2258 x103
(fax) 410-837-2692

​Native American LifeLines is a Title V Urban Indian Health Program (UIHP) serving
Baltimore and Boston metropolitan areas and contracting with the Indian Health
Service. This contract is administered by the Indian Health Service Nashville Area
Office (IHS/NAO).

Be sure to follow us on facebook and instagram!

A Self Care Note: Your work day/hours may not be the same as mine. So please don't feel obligated to
respond outside of your normal working hours.

​



From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Sent: Friday, January 12, 2024 12:45 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <jdeleon@narf.org>; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Kerry Lessard <Kerry@nativelifelines.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
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
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon
Cc: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Re: Outreach Request/Additional Sites
Date: Wednesday, November 8, 2023 1:53:19 PM

No worries! Either 12-1pm or between 2-4pm ET work for us. 

Get Outlook for iOS

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, November 8, 2023 9:24:42 AM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Cc: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) <Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: Outreach Request/Additional Sites
 
Good morning all,
 
I have some emerging issues today to deal with; can we reschedule for some time after 12pm EST
tomorrow? Thanks.
 
-----Original Appointment-----
From: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) On Behalf Of Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Sent: Wednesday, November 8, 2023 8:10 AM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon; Ashley
Tjhung
Subject: Outreach Request/Additional Sites
When: Wednesday, November 8, 2023 11:30 AM-12:00 PM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US &
Canada).
Where: 
 
 
Join ZoomGov Meeting 

Meeting ID:  
Passcode: 

•  US (New York)
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From: Jacqueline De Leon
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
Date: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 6:29:57 PM

Hi Josh,
 
Thanks so much for continuing to push these various agencies. Regarding AK, I do not believe the AK
health centers are designated and I am unaware if they are providing registration services (though
they might be). Here is a list of designated agencies in AK: https://casetext.com/statute/alaska-
statutes/title-15-elections/chapter-1507-registration-of-voters/section-1507055-effective-until-
112024-voter-registration-agencies It would be welcome news if they are providing registration and
if so, perhaps we can push them to seek voluntary designation.
 
Second, Shingle Springs was designated! As a tribally run health facility, I’m not sure I would count
this as an IHS led designated site. I think we were holding them a bit separate in our mind since the
tribe initiated the designation process. But open to feedback on that and happy to discuss. They
were certainly inspired by the EO to begin the process, although we do think that the ability to seek
designation exists for tribally run healthcare centers even absent the EO.
 
Finally, I wanted to put on your radar that there are facilities in Wisconsin that are working on
offering registration though they will not be seeking NVRA designation because Wisconsin does not
have NVRA since it has same day registration.
 
If you think it’s a good time, perhaps we have a call to check in next week so we can get a sense of
where all of the different parts are moving? Seems like there are a lot of agencies taking good steps
and perhaps we can be additionally helpful? 

Thanks, Josh!
Jacqueline  
 
 
 
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 1:50 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
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
 



Hope all is well. Wanted to see if you had any response to the last two questions re: AK and CA?
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Wednesday, October 25, 2023 6:48 PM
To: JDeLeon@narf.org; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon
<sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
 
Hello,
 
 
I am currently in Billings for the quarterly IHS executive leadership meeting. Since I am with all the
area directors in person I’ve been checking in with them about their selected sites for some updates
on progress. I wanted to circle back with you all about a few things.
 
First, the VP tweeted about Native Health! Attached a screen shot. Here is the tweet (or X whatever
it is called). Also, some local press coverage here and here and the AZ SoS press release.
 
Next, I am still waiting on the remaining pueblo representatives on the governing board for the
Santa Fe Service Unit. Dr. Thomas, ALB area director, still says it will happen; just slow moving
working with the pueblos.
 
Byrce Redgrave (Billings area director) Crow Service Unit had a productive meeting with the
Secretary of State and Western Native Voice last week. Waiting on a debrief from the service unity
leadership Friday.
 
So, fingers crossed these two come online. 
 
Last week, or the week before (time is fluid lately) we had a follow up call with some of the areas
working to designate sites. I wanted to check in if any one of them reached out to you for help on
identifying appropriate election officials and what an outreach email could look like? If they haven’t
reached out to you I can ping them.
 
They are:

Native Life Lines in Baltimore
Oyate Health in Rapid City, SD
Crown Point Service Unit in New Mexico
Western Oregon Service Unit in Salem, OR

 
Also, I had a call with the California and Alaska area offices. The California director was curious about
the Shingle Spring Rancheria and if their health center received designation? If so, that would



be a tribally run health care facility and thus would help fulfill a requirement (of course we can
also stand up another on in California). The Alaska area director was curious if there is a way
to find out if there are already NVRA voluntary designations in Alaska. She believes that some
of the Alaska Native villages, corporations, or regional corporations (all of Alaska is Title V)
might have received such a designation years ago.
 
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
Subject: Re: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
Date: Monday, November 6, 2023 10:35:26 AM

Hi all,

Just wanted to flag that I'm back from my time off. Excited to see all the progress that was made
while I was OOO, will continue to catch back up on what I missed. Not sure if I missed the check in
meeting, but please include me if it's yet to be scheduled. 

Thanks! 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 6:45 PM
To: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Cc: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) <Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov>
Subject: Re: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
 
Hello Jaqueline,

Thanks for the response. And thank you all for your help on this!  I am just trying to keep all
things moving so we hit (and exceed) the EO goals. 

That is useful to know about Alaska. I think we can move quickly on getting ANTHC stood up
perhaps. 

Regarding Shingle Springs, although it is a tribally run facility I’d argue it is in the IHS family
since it is a 638 tribe and they have taken their tribal shares from IHS. And IHS still has
inherently federal functions as regards 638 tribal health facilities. Indeed 65% of IHS goes to
ISDEAA tribes, so important—at least for this endeavor—to think of them as one. Worthwhile
to chat about

That is nice to know about WI. 

Yes, we should get a call scheduled for early next week. I have added Jerel to help with
scheduling. 

Best 
Josh 

--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
 

(b) (6)



 
From: "Jacqueline De Leon" <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Subject: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
Date: 01 November 2023 18:29
To: "Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)" <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>, "Ashley Tjhung"
<ATjhung@demos.org>, "rseelau@ncai.org" <rseelau@ncai.org>, "Sarah Brannon"
<sbrannon@aclu.org>

Hi Josh,
 
Thanks so much for continuing to push these various agencies. Regarding AK, I do not
believe the AK health centers are designated and I am unaware if they are providing
registration services (though they might be). Here is a list of designated agencies in AK:
https://casetext.com/statute/alaska-statutes/title-15-elections/chapter-1507-
registration-of-voters/section-1507055-effective-until-112024-voter-registration-
agencies It would be welcome news if they are providing registration and if so, perhaps
we can push them to seek voluntary designation.
 
Second, Shingle Springs was designated! As a tribally run health facility, I’m not sure I
would count this as an IHS led designated site. I think we were holding them a bit
separate in our mind since the tribe initiated the designation process. But open to
feedback on that and happy to discuss. They were certainly inspired by the EO to begin
the process, although we do think that the ability to seek designation exists for tribally
run healthcare centers even absent the EO.
 
Finally, I wanted to put on your radar that there are facilities in Wisconsin that are
working on offering registration though they will not be seeking NVRA designation
because Wisconsin does not have NVRA since it has same day registration.
 
If you think it’s a good time, perhaps we have a call to check in next week so we can get
a sense of where all of the different parts are moving? Seems like there are a lot of
agencies taking good steps and perhaps we can be additionally helpful? 

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
 
Hope all is well. Wanted to see if you had any response to the last two questions re: AK
and CA?
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Wednesday, October 25, 2023 6:48 PM
To: JDeLeon@narf.org; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah
Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
 
Hello,
 
 
I am currently in Billings for the quarterly IHS executive leadership meeting. Since I am
with all the area directors in person I’ve been checking in with them about their
selected sites for some updates on progress. I wanted to circle back with you all about
a few things.
 
First, the VP tweeted about Native Health! Attached a screen shot. Here is the tweet
(or X whatever it is called). Also, some local press coverage here and here and the AZ
SoS press release.
 
Next, I am still waiting on the remaining pueblo representatives on the governing board
for the Santa Fe Service Unit. Dr. Thomas, ALB area director, still says it will happen;
just slow moving working with the pueblos.
 
Byrce Redgrave (Billings area director) Crow Service Unit had a productive meeting with
the Secretary of State and Western Native Voice last week. Waiting on a debrief from
the service unity leadership Friday.
 
So, fingers crossed these two come online. 
 
Last week, or the week before (time is fluid lately) we had a follow up call with some of
the areas working to designate sites. I wanted to check in if any one of them reached
out to you for help on identifying appropriate election officials and what an outreach
email could look like? If they haven’t reached out to you I can ping them.



 
They are:

Native Life Lines in Baltimore
Oyate Health in Rapid City, SD
Crown Point Service Unit in New Mexico
Western Oregon Service Unit in Salem, OR

 
Also, I had a call with the California and Alaska area offices. The California director was
curious about the Shingle Spring Rancheria and if their health center received
designation? If so, that would be a tribally run health care facility and thus would
help fulfill a requirement (of course we can also stand up another on in
California). The Alaska area director was curious if there is a way to find out if
there are already NVRA voluntary designations in Alaska. She believes that some
of the Alaska Native villages, corporations, or regional corporations (all of Alaska
is Title V) might have received such a designation years ago.
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS
Mobile: 
 

(b) (6)



From: Allison Neswood
To: Ashley Tjhung; Saundra Mitrovich; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); rseelau@ncai.org; Jacqueline De Leon
Cc: Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
Date: Monday, May 22, 2023 12:12:47 PM

The time works for me as well. Thank you!
 
Allison Neswood | she/her
Staff Attorney
Native American Rights Fund
250 Arapahoe Ave
Boulder, CO 80302
Office line: 303-447-8760
Direct line: (202) 734-6449
Fax: (303) 443-7776
 
This transmission may be subject to the attorney-client privilege, be attorney work product, or be strictly
confidential. If you are not the intended recipient of this message, you may not disclose, print, copy or disseminate
this information. If you have received this in error, please reply and notify the sender (only) and delete the
message. Unauthorized interception of this message is a violation of federal criminal law.
 
Please consider the environment before printing this email.
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Friday, May 19, 2023 6:08 PM
To: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; rseelau@ncai.org; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; Jacqueline
De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Cc: Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: Re: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the NARF organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

That time will work for me too! 
 
Get Outlook for iOS

From: Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>
Sent: Friday, May 19, 2023 6:21:55 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>;
Neswood@narf.org <Neswood@narf.org>; JDeLeon@narf.org <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Ashley Tjhung
<ATjhung@demos.org>
Cc: Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: Re: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
 
Greetings! I should be able to make this time work. I’ll be in Minnesota for our pre-convention set-



up but can step away for a call. Have a great weekend! 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Saundra Mitrovich 
 
Get Outlook for iOS

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Friday, May 19, 2023 1:52:51 PM
To: rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>; smitrovich@ncai.org <smitrovich@ncai.org>;
Neswood@narf.org <Neswood@narf.org>; JDeLeon@narf.org <JDeLeon@narf.org>;
ATjhung@demos.org <ATjhung@demos.org>
Cc: Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>
Subject: RE: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
 
Does the same time in two weeks for everyone?
 
-----Original Appointment-----
From: Turk, Denise M. (IHS/HQ) On Behalf Of Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Sent: Monday, May 15, 2023 9:26 AM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); rseelau@ncai.org; smitrovich@ncai.org; Neswood@narf.org;
JDeLeon@narf.org; ATjhung@demos.org
Cc: Sarah Brannon
Subject: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
When: Friday, May 19, 2023 10:30 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada).
Where: 
 
Agenda attached.
 
Coalition of organizations (Demos, the Native American Rights Fund, and the National Congress of
American Indians) meeting with IHS on Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country
 
Join ZoomGov Meeting 

Meeting ID:  
Passcode:  
One tap mobile 

# US (San Jose) 
# US (San Jose)

Dial by your location 
US (San Jose) 
US (San Jose) 
US (US Spanish Line) 
US 

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)



US (New York) 
US (US Spanish Line) 

         US Toll-free 
Meeting ID:  
Find your local number: 
 

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)
(b) (6)



From: Ashley Tjhung
To: Saundra Mitrovich; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); rseelau@ncai.org; Neswood@narf.org; JDeLeon@narf.org
Cc: Sarah Brannon
Subject: Re: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
Date: Friday, May 19, 2023 8:08:23 PM

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
 
Greetings! I should be able to make this time work. I’ll be in Minnesota for our pre-
convention set-up but can step away for a call. Have a great weekend! 

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
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); rseelau@ncai.org; Neswood@narf.org; JDeLeon@narf.org; ATjhung@demos.org
Cc: Sarah Brannon
Subject: Re: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
Date: Friday, May 19, 2023 6:22:04 PM

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
To: Allison Neswood; Ashley Tjhung; Saundra Mitrovich; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); rseelau@ncai.org; Jacqueline

De Leon
Subject: Re: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
Date: Monday, May 22, 2023 12:14:00 PM

Also works for me.

Thanks
Sarah

From: Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Sent: Monday, May 22, 2023 12:12 PM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Marshall,
Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; rseelau@ncai.org <rseelau@ncai.org>; Jacqueline
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
Cc: Jacqueline De Leon; Sarah Brannon; Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Ryan Seelau

(Rseelau@NCAI.org); cklar@ncai.org; Allison Neswood
Subject: Re: Touch base next week?
Date: Thursday, January 25, 2024 11:22:15 AM

Great, let's do 2:30-3pm.

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Thursday, January 25, 2024 11:20 AM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>; Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) <Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov>
Cc: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Saundra
Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org) <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Ryan Seelau (Rseelau@NCAI.org)
<rseelau@ncai.org>; cklar@ncai.org <cklar@ncai.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: RE: Touch base next week?
 
I am free 2:30 to 3pm and 4-5pm.
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Thursday, January 25, 2024 11:11 AM
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
<rseelau@ncai.org>; cklar@ncai.org; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>
Subject: Re: Touch base next week?
 
Hi Josh,
 
Hope you had a restful time off! Do you have any time after 2 pm ET on Tuesday next week? 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Sent: Monday, January 22, 2024 6:02 PM
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
 
I was on annual leave the last couple weeks and was abroad so had no access to my government IT
hardware or systems. Currently, I am at the quarterly meeting of IHS executive leadership in PHX. I
can perhaps do something on Friday of this week or earlier next week.
 
Josh



 
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Friday, January 19, 2024 12:56 PM
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
 
Just bumping this request, thanks! 

From: Ashley Tjhung
Sent: Friday, January 12, 2024 2:45 PM
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
Subject: Touch base next week?
 
Hi Josh,
 
Happy new year! Hope things have been going well. We were hoping to be able to touch base with
you some time next week or the week after for updates on the designations campaign. Let us know
some times that work for you, thanks! 
 
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
Date: Thursday, January 25, 2024 11:11:13 AM

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
Date: Friday, January 19, 2024 12:56:24 PM

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

Happy new year! Hope things have been going well. We were hoping to be able to touch base
with you some time next week or the week after for updates on the designations campaign. Let
us know some times that work for you, thanks! 

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
Date: Tuesday, January 30, 2024 3:32:02 PM

Hi Josh, 

Starting next week, we are available at 1:30 pm ET for checkins. Thanks!

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
Date: Friday, January 12, 2024 2:45:11 PM

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
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Souther, James (IHS/HQ)

Subject: IHS Designation Discussion
Location:

Start: Fri 7/21/2023 10:30 AM
End: Fri 7/21/2023 11:00 AM

Recurrence: (none)

Meeting Status: Accepted

Organizer: Ashley Tjhung

Ashley Tjhung is inviting you to a scheduled Zoom meeting. 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 

 
 
Meeting ID:   
Passcode:   
 
‐‐‐ 
 
One tap mobile 

#,,,,  US (New York)  
#,,,,  US 

 
‐‐‐ 
 
Dial by your location 

US (New York) 
US 
US (Washington DC) 
US 
US 
US (Chicago) 
US (San Jose) 
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US 
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US (Houston) 
US 
US 
US 
US 
US 

 US Toll‐free 
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
Location: https://ihs-gov.zoomgov.com/j/1612341285?

pwd=MXU4endlaFdGR0JUV2lWclNhb3pKQT09

Start: Fri 5/19/2023 10:30 AM
End: Fri 5/19/2023 11:00 AM

Recurrence: (none)

Meeting Status: Meeting organizer

Organizer: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Required Attendees: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); rseelau@ncai.org; smitrovich@ncai.org; 

Neswood@narf.org; JDeLeon@narf.org; ATjhung@demos.org
Optional Attendees: Sarah Brannon

Coalition of organizations (Demos, the Native American Rights Fund, and the National Congress of American 
Indians) meeting with IHS on Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country 
 

Join ZoomGov Meeting  
https://ihs‐gov.zoomgov.com/j/1612341285?pwd=MXU4endlaFdGR0JUV2lWclNhb3pKQT09  

Meeting ID: 161 234 1285  
Passcode: 520309  
One tap mobile  
+16692545252,,1612341285# US (San Jose)  
+16692161590,,1612341285# US (San Jose)  

Dial by your location  
        +1 669 254 5252 US (San Jose)  
        +1 669 216 1590 US (San Jose)  
        +1 415 449 4000 US (US Spanish Line)  
        +1 551 285 1373 US  
        +1 646 828 7666 US (New York)  
        +1 646 964 1167 US (US Spanish Line)  
        833 568 8864 US Toll‐free  
Meeting ID: 161 234 1285  
Find your local number: https://ihs‐gov.zoomgov.com/u/aiOdgAHAR  

 







Indian Health Service Meeting 

May 19, 2023 

10:30 – 11:00 a.m. EDT 

 

 

 

I. Introductions 

 

II. Background 

 

a. History of Executive Order 

 

b. Why voter registration matters to health 

  

c. The value of the Pilot Programs 

 

III. IHS Update on the Executive Order on Promoting Access to Voting 

 

IV. Discussion of Pilot Programs in More Detail 

 

a. Potential Locations 

 

b. Potential Support from the Coalition 

 

V. Next Steps and Follow-Up   
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Souther, James (IHS/HQ)

Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Location: Microsoft Teams Meeting

Start: Fri 8/18/2023 3:30 PM
End: Fri 8/18/2023 4:00 PM

Recurrence: (none)

Meeting Status: Meeting organizer

Organizer: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Required Attendees: Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah 

Brannon; Allison Neswood

 

------------ 
From:  Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent:  Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:49 PM 
To:  Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; 

rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood 
Subject:  RE: EO 14019 ‐ Promoting Access to Voting 
 

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
 
  
________________________________________________________________________________  

Microsoft Teams meeting  

Join on your computer, mobile app or room device  
Click here to join the meeting  
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Souther, James (IHS/HQ)

From: Ricks, Tim DMD (IHS/HQ)
Sent: Wednesday, August 21, 2019 2:37 PM
To: Lauren Parish
Subject: RE: New patient pwk
Attachments: New Patient Paperwork- Cool Springs Plastic Surgery - Ricks, Timothy L. - 8-21-19.pdf; 

Records Release - Nubody Concepts - 8-21-19.pdf

Lauren, 
 
Attached is the new patient paperwork for tomorrow’s appointment at 10:30 a.m. as well as the records release from 
Nubody Concepts (hopefully they’ll fax the information over to you today or before the appointment). 
 
Tim 
 
 
Timothy L. Ricks, DMD, MPH 
Rear Admiral (RADM), Assistant Surgeon General 
Chief Dental Officer, U.S. Public Health Service 
Deputy Director, IHS Division of Oral Health 
IHS Continuing Dental Education Coordinator 
IHS Oral Health Promotion Disease Prevention Consultant 
IHS Dental GPRA Consultant 
IHS Oral Health Surveillance Program Coordinator 
Diplomate, American Board of Dental Public Health 
Physical Address:  08N02‐D 
Mailing Address:  Mail Stop 08N34‐A 
5600 Fishers Lane, Rockville, MD 20857 
Phone – USPHS/CPO Issues:           (301) 549‐2629 
Phone – IHS/CDE Issues:                  (301) 945‐3230 
E‐mail – USPHS Correspondence:  USPHSCDO@ihs.gov 
E‐mail – IHS Correspondence:        tim.ricks@ihs.gov 
E‐mail – IHS CDE Program:              IHSCDECoordinator@ihs.gov 

 
Mission of the U.S. Public Health Service:  To protect, promote and advance the health and safety of our Nation 
 

 
 
 

From: Lauren Parish <lauren@csps.me>  
Sent: Wednesday, August 21, 2019 12:13 PM 
To: Ricks, Tim DMD (IHS/HQ) <Tim.Ricks@ihs.gov> 
Subject: New patient pwk 
 
Sorry that you did not receive the new patient paperwork prior to today. We are looking forward to seeing you 
tomorrow. 
Thank you so much.  
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Sincerly, 
 
Lauren Parish 
 
 
Sent from Mail for Windows 10 
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Souther, James (IHS/HQ)

Start: Tue 12/19/2023 2:00 PM
End: Tue 12/19/2023 2:30 PM

Recurrence: (none)

Meeting Status: Meeting organizer

 







From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
To: Ta"jin Perez; JDeLeon@narf.org; Ashley Tjhung
Subject: Crow Service Unit and Montana SoS
Date: Monday, October 30, 2023 11:11:00 AM
Attachments: image001.png

Hello Ta’jin and Jaqueline and Ashley,
 
I was in Billings last week for the quarterly IHS executive leadership meeting. Unfortunately, I was
unable to meet up with Ta’jin in person. But I was able to connect with him when I got back to DC
Friday to discuss. I just wanted to loop you in quickly.
 
The Crow Service Unit leadership and team as well as Western Native Voice met with the Secretary
of State’s office last week (or the week before). I was unable to join the call unfortunately.  It seems
the SoS office is willing to work with Crow, but is unfamiliar with how to go about doing that—the
process, requirements, etc. They left the meeting with the SoS to go back, do research, and have a
follow up call in the coming weeks.
 
I told Ta’jin that this is something we are running into with several other states regarding voluntary
designation. Although I am no expert on Montana state law, I told him I assume that it works like
others and that it is a simple process of the CSU integrating certain business practices to comply with
the NVRA law and state law, some training, and then the SoS issuing a letter, declaration, or in some
cases an MOU.
 
Ta’jin will send an email to the group this week about next steps, and I suggested he include me on
the email and I can reply with relevant information about the process and examples. I wanted to see
if I can offer they connect with you and/or others from the team to provide more
answers/assistance?
 
On the service unit side, I am going to tell them to start moving forward with the business process
and possible training and to prioritize this work this month so we can reach designation as soon as
possible.
 
Ta’jin, anything else you’d like to add?
 
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
To: Ryan Seelau; Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon
Subject: EO 14019 and IHS: next three sites
Date: Friday, August 4, 2023 1:34:00 PM

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
To: Saundra Mitrovich; rseelau@ncai.org; Neswood@narf.org; JDeLeon@narf.org; ATjhung@demos.org; Sarah

Brannon
Cc: Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ)
Subject: EO 14019 Billings and ABQ
Date: Tuesday, June 13, 2023 1:28:00 PM
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
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung
Subject: follow up
Date: Friday, September 29, 2023 6:32:00 PM

Hi Jaqueline, can you remind me what information you need from the Area Directors? Who they
want as point of contact for you to coordinate out reach with to the county/state election officials?
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS
Mobile: 
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From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
To: Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB); Woodard, Micah (IHS/POR); Tori Whipple; Jacqueline Yotter; Crowe, Darren J.

(IHS/BIL); Rockabove, Ashley (IHS/BIL); Johnson, Hope (IHS/PHX); Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF); Atene, Audra
(IHS/NAV/AO); Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW); Scott, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO); Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley
Tjhung; cklar@ncai.org; smitrovich@ncai.org; Amiotte, Joe (IHS/ABR/AO); Begay, Duwayne (IHS/NAV);
Castagna, Evangelyn (IHS/AKA); Cotton, Beverly (IHS/NAS/AO); Frye, Daniel (IHS/BEM/AO); Gaikowski, Dixie
(IHS/TUC); Martinez, Marcus C (IHS/POR); Miller, Beverly (IHS/CAL/AO); Redgrave, Bryce (IHS/BIL); Reidhead,
Ty (IHS/PHX); Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB); Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO); Stearns, Kenneth (IHS/POR)

Subject: Follow-up on EO 14019

Joshuah Marshall is inviting you to a scheduled ZoomGov meeting.

 

Join ZoomGov Meeting

 

Meeting ID: 

Passcode: 

 

---

 

One tap mobile

US (San Jose)

US (San Jose)

 

---

 

Dial by your location

US (San Jose)

US (San Jose)

US (US Spanish Line)

US (US Spanish Line)

US (New Jersey)

US (New York)

 US Toll-free

 

Meeting ID: 

 

Find your local number: 

 

---

 

Join by Skype for Business

https:
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From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
To: Ashley Tjhung; Sarah Brannon; Jacqueline De Leon; Ryan Seelau (Rseelau@NCAI.org); Saundra Mitrovich

(smitrovich@ncai.org)
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
Date: Monday, February 12, 2024 3:46:00 PM
Attachments: image002.png

SoS points of contact I’ve been working with.
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
To: Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon; Sarah Brannon
Subject: FW: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
Date: Monday, February 26, 2024 9:30:00 PM
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
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; Ryan Seelau; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon
Subject: FW: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Tuesday, August 15, 2023 10:40:00 AM

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
To: Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood
Subject: FW: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:56:00 PM

FYSA
 

From: Celina Olivas <COlivas@azsos.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:53 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
 
Hi, I wanted to follow up to see if you’ve had an opportunity to check with your nonprofit partners. I
had a conversation with Susan on Monday, and she really wants to have this program initiated
before the end of September. Your assistance in this matter is greatly appreciated.
 
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
 
Let me check with our nonprofit partners if they came across examples in other states regarding this
work.
 
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
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; Sarah Brannon; rseelau@ncai.org
Subject: FW: Meeting with election official
Date: Tuesday, November 14, 2023 2:46:00 PM
Attachments: RE Voter Registration Site Request.msg

image001.png

Hmm… bit of a disappointment. I don’t know if you have encountered something like this before.  I
will see if the considered any sites in Kansas as candidates when deciding what site to select.
 

From: Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO) <Travis.Watts@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 14, 2023 1:53 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW)
<Daniel.Sherron@ihs.gov>
Cc: Scott, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO) <Travis.Scott@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: Meeting with election official
 
 
 
Sir,  great timing.   I have had communication with the State of Oklahoma, State Election Board,  Ms.
Misha Mohr, the NVRA Coordinator/PIO and upon our last conversation (see full conversation
attached),  we were informed In Oklahoma, elections are overseen by the State Election Board – an
agency that is separate from the Secretary of State. At this time, they did not have the staff or
resources to designate additional “official” voter registration entities.
 
I spoke to the Secretary of State’s office and they explained to me that during the 1970’s due to
voter fraud the Secretary of State’s Office was removed legislatively from all voter activity and the
State Election Board was the State’s sole Election Authority, and they have told me they do not have
the staff or resources to designate additional “official” voter registration entities.
 
That is where I am at today.  I will try to engage the Chief state election official on the Board, Mr.
Paul Ziriax instead of Ms. Misha Morh, although I have little faith that will succeed.
 
We are continuing to partner with the State and  to obtain Voter Registration Applications and
develop our process for registration.   In summary, yes, any support from our nonprofit partners on
engagement with state and next steps would be helpful. 
 
Kindest, Travis
 
RADM Travis Watts
Assistant Surgeon General (Pharmacy)
Area Director
Oklahoma City Area, Indian Health Service
Telephone: 951-3829
Cell Phone: 
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From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 14, 2023 11:37 AM
To: Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO) <Travis.Watts@ihs.gov>; Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW)
<Daniel.Sherron@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: Meeting with election official
 
Good afternoon RADM Watts,
 
Just checking in on this.
 
V/r,
Josh
 
 

From: Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO) <Travis.Watts@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Monday, October 23, 2023 7:52 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW)
<Daniel.Sherron@ihs.gov>
Subject: Re: Meeting with election official
 

Sir,  will do, I have sent a request to the state NBRA coordinator and am awaiting response 

From: "Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)" <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: Meeting with election official
Date: 23 October 2023 17:02
To: "Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW)" <Daniel.Sherron@ihs.gov>
Cc: "Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO)" <Travis.Watts@ihs.gov>

Hello,
 
Can you let me know when the next scheduled meeting with the election official you are working
with will be? 
 
Thanks,
Josh 
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 



Mobile: 
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From: Misha Mohr
To: Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO)
Cc: Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW); Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO)
Subject: RE: Voter Registration Site Request
Date: Monday, October 30, 2023 10:46:52 AM
Attachments: image001.png
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Travis,
 
In Oklahoma, elections are overseen by the State Election Board – an agency that is separate from
the Secretary of State. At this time, we do not have the staff or resources to designate additional
“official” voter registration entities; however, we are more than happy to provide you with Voter
Registration Applications so that you may offer services to your clients.
 
You can order Voter Registration Applications by completing the Request for Voter Registration
Applications Form at https://oklahoma.gov/content/dam/ok/en/elections/voter-registration-
drives/vrdrive-request-form.pdf and submitting it to info@elections.ok.gov. You may also download
and print applications from the State Election Board website at
https://oklahoma.gov/content/dam/ok/en/elections/forms/voter-registration-application.pdf.
 
I have attached PDFs of our voter registration poster (which include QR codes to the Online Voter
Registration System) that you may download, print and use in your clinics. If you prefer to make your
own posters, you can use the QR codes found on our Electronic Voter Registration Drive flyer at
https://oklahoma.gov/content/dam/ok/en/elections/voter-registration-drives/electronic-vrdrive.pdf.
 
Please let me know if you have any questions.
 
 

Misha Mohr
Public Information Officer
NVRA Coordinator
Oklahoma State Election Board
Oklahoma State Capitol, Room G28
P: 405.522.6624
mmohr@elections.ok.gov
 
 
Learn more about the security and integrity of Oklahoma’s elections:
https://oklahoma.gov/elections/security-integrity.html
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

From: Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO) <Travis.Watts@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, October 19, 2023 12:36 PM
To: Misha Mohr <MMohr@elections.ok.gov>
Cc: Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW) <Daniel.Sherron@ihs.gov>; Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO)
<travis.watts@ihs.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] RE: Voter Registration Site Request
Importance: High
 
Ms. Mohr,
 
Good afternoon, I just got off a call with the Indian Health Service, Headquarters Program.  They
have informed me IHS is interested in our Wewoka Facility to be designated as an official designate
our federal government agency.
 
While designation is not necessary for IHS to provide the more robust voter registration services,
they are recommending it here. Thanks to the strong voter registration procedures in the NVRA,
accepting designations made by a state can help IHS follow through on its commitment in response
to the Voting EO, to “offer its patients assistance with voter registration” and, in turn, promote
better individual and community health in Indian Country. Accepting designation can also facilitate
interactions with the state by providing a registration model states are familiar with, making the
process of receiving and returning registration material easier and smoother.
 
We were informed that this designation usually comes from the Secretary of State and were hoping
that we could start this conversation with the Stat Election Board and decide where to go from there
regarding designation.
 
Also, the last we spoke, we were looking for guidance on where to order the forms and obtain the
QR codes for the registration process?  I Have added the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Daniel Sherron
to the email, he will be your POC for this process.
 
Let me know when a good time to meet virtually this or next week regarding both the internal
registration process at Wewoka and the steps toward how to be come a State designated NVRA site. 
We are looking to see if the Oklahoma State Election Board would have interest in working with us 
to obtain NVRA designation through the Secretary of State.  Similar to what was provided in the
attached letter from the State of Kansas to Haskell Indian Nations University.  
 
Kindest, Travis.
 
RADM Travis Watts
Assistant Surgeon General (Pharmacy)
Area Director
Oklahoma City Area, Indian Health Service
Telephone: 951-3829





https://oklahoma.gov/content/dam/ok/en/elections/voter-registration-drives/vrdrive-info-tips.pdf. I
am also including a link to our Legal Responsibilities handout: 
https://oklahoma.gov/content/dam/ok/en/elections/voter-registration-drives/registering-voters-
legal-responsibilities.pdf. I recommend making copies and providing it to anyone who will be
assisting voters.
 
Please feel free to give me a call if you have any questions.
 
 

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
Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2023 2:02 PM
To: Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO) <Travis.Watts@ihs.gov>
Cc: Sherron, Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW) <Daniel.Sherron@ihs.gov>; Bryant, Joe (IHS/OKC/CNT)
<Joe.Bryant@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: Voter Registration Site Request
 
Good Afternoon,
 
I apologize for the delayed response. I just left a message with your office.
 
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
Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2023 1:56 PM
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
 
The Oklahoma City Area Indian Health Service continues to wait on return correspondence regarding
our below ask for our Indian Health Service facilities in Clinton and Wewoka, OK .    At our last
communication, your staff were going to review our below request (see email below) and get back
with us on a process and steps to become voter registration sites and partner with the State.
 
Please let me know if you have another point of contact for me or whether I should engage in
another manner.  We look forward to partner with the state to perform this function.
 
Kindest, Travis
 
RADM Travis Watts
Assistant Surgeon General (Pharmacy)
Area Director
Oklahoma City Area, Indian Health Service
Telephone: 951-3829
Cell Phone: 
 
cid:image001.png@01D9F226.DDBED350
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From: Misha Mohr <MMohr@elections.ok.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, September 14, 2023 4:37 PM
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
 
Thank you for the information.
 
I am going to be out of the office Friday, but will give you a call next week.
 
 

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
Sent: Thursday, September 14, 2023 2:01 PM
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
 
Confirming you had received my email on Tuesday.   Assuring I have the correct address.
 
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
Date: Thursday, October 5, 2023 1:08:00 PM
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
Mobile: 240.485.9633
 
 

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
Date: Friday, November 3, 2023 6:49:21 PM

FYI 

--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
 
 

From: "Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)" <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: EO 14019 Update
Date: 03 November 2023 18:43
To: "Justin.W.Vail@who.eop.gov" <Justin.W.Vail@who.eop.gov>, "Reese, Elizabeth A.
EOP/WHO" <Elizabeth.A.Reese@who.eop.gov>, "Molle-Carr, Elizabeth E. EOP/OMB"
<Elizabeth.E.Molle-Carr@omb.eop.gov>, "Tso, Roselyn (IHS/HQ)" <Roselyn.Tso@ihs.gov>,
"Gerwin, Mikaela D. EOP/WHO" <Mikaela.D.Gerwin@who.eop.gov>
Cc: "Sullivan, Meg (HHS/IOS)" <Meg.Sullivan@hhs.gov>, "Arguello, Andres (OS/IOS)"
<Andres.Arguello@hhs.gov>

All,

More good news on a Friday. Daniel Cox, CEO of the Santa Fe Service Unit, just informed me
that their governing board has signed off on NVRA designation. As I mentioned before,
because of SFSU’s unique nature, they had to work individually  with each of the nine Pueblos
to get sign off. That occurred this week. The Secretary of State has the designation ready to be
issued and should be signed in short order. 

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
To: Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Sarah Brannon; Allison

Neswood; Ashley Tjhung
Subject: Fwd: Phoenix Area NVRA
Date: Friday, October 6, 2023 6:03:12 PM

I just shared with the White House! Susan just called to confirm. So excited, if anyone wants
to come to Phoenix and join me in the celebration, please do!  

--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
 
 

From: "Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)" <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: Phoenix Area NVRA
Date: 06 October 2023 17:52
To: "Justin.W.Vail@who.eop.gov" <Justin.W.Vail@who.eop.gov>, "Gerwin, Mikaela D.
EOP/WHO" <Mikaela.D.Gerwin@who.eop.gov>, "Reese, Elizabeth A. EOP/WHO"
<Elizabeth.A.Reese@who.eop.gov>
Cc: "Tso, Roselyn (IHS/HQ)" <Roselyn.Tso@ihs.gov>, "Sullivan, Meg (HHS/IOS)"
<Meg.Sullivan@hhs.gov>, "Arguello, Andres (OS/IOS)" <Andres.Arguello@hhs.gov>

In some good news in time for the holiday weekend:

The first of the five IHS sites to receive NVRA designation will be Native Health Phoenix. All
three of their Maricopa County locations will be designated during a special ceremony with
leadership and the Secretary of State’s office during NH’s annual Open House 10/14. I plan to
attend along with PAO leadership. 

The other sites are coming online soon as well. But this is the first! And, the SoS office says to
the best of their knowledge NH is the first organization in Arizona to receive designation. 

Best 
Josh  

--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
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From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
To: Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon; Sarah Brannon; Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Ryan Seelau

(Rseelau@NCAI.org); cklar@ncai.org; Allison Neswood
Subject: Joshuah Marshall"s Zoom Meeting

Joshuah Marshall is inviting you to a scheduled ZoomGov meeting.

 

Join ZoomGov Meeting

 

Meeting ID

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
Subject: June 2nd, 1924
Date: Tuesday, February 27, 2024 10:39:00 PM

All,
 

June 2nd, 1924 marks the 100th anniversary of the Indian Citizenship Act, granting US citizenship—
and by extension voting rights—to all American Indians and Alaska Natives in the country. It would
be nice if we had a major achievement to celebrate by then 
 
Best,
Josh
 
 
--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS
Mobile: 
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From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood
Subject: NAV, NAS, GPA, PDX, OKC call tomorrow
Date: Thursday, September 28, 2023 12:50:00 PM
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
To: Ashley Tjhung; Jacqueline De Leon
Subject: NM SoS
Date: Thursday, February 22, 2024 1:34:00 PM

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
To: JDeLeon@narf.org; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon
Subject: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
Date: Wednesday, October 25, 2023 6:47:00 PM
Attachments: Screen Shot 2023-10-24 at 8.05.01 AM.png

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
To: Ashley Tjhung; Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Jacqueline De Leon; Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Santa Fe Service Unit, NVRA, and EO 14019
Date: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 2:51:00 PM
Attachments: image005.png

Hello, they got back to me this morning and are working on scheduling the trainings for mid to late
March. Once that is done, I can think of possible ways to showcase/highlight/host an event to
celebrate.
 
Josh
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, February 28, 2024 2:49 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Saundra Mitrovich
(smitrovich@ncai.org) <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Sarah
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
To: Church, Ann M. (IHS/HQ); Ashley Tjhung
Cc: Laura Williamson; Jacqueline De Leon; Allison Neswood; Ryan Seelau (Rseelau@NCAI.org); Saundra Mitrovich

(smitrovich@ncai.org); jennifer@nativeorganizing.org
Subject: RE: Best email for tribal leaders to reach Dir. Tso?
Date: Wednesday, April 12, 2023 4:36:00 PM

Thank you, Ann. Nice to meet you all. I look forward to being as helpful as I can in this effort.
 
Josh
 
 
 

From: Church, Ann M. (IHS/HQ) <Ann.Church@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 12, 2023 2:02 PM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
Cc: Laura Williamson <lwilliamson@demos.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Allison
Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; Ryan Seelau (Rseelau@NCAI.org) <rseelau@ncai.org>; Saundra
Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org) <smitrovich@ncai.org>; jennifer@nativeorganizing.org; Marshall,
Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: Best email for tribal leaders to reach Dir. Tso?
 
Good afternoon,
 
I would like to provide an e-introduction to Mr. Joshuah Marshall, who recently joined the Indian
Health Service (IHS) team as Senior Advisor to the Director. He will be serving as the IHS point of
contact for this Executive Order moving forward. Please feel free to refer questions directly to him. I
also copied him on this email.
 
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
joshuah.marshall@ihs.gov
 
Thank you for all you all do in support of tribal communities.
 
Thank you,
Ann
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 11, 2023 4:47 PM
To: Church, Ann M. (IHS/HQ) <Ann.Church@ihs.gov>
Cc: Laura Williamson <lwilliamson@demos.org>; Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>; Allison
Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; Ryan Seelau (Rseelau@NCAI.org) <rseelau@ncai.org>; Saundra
Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org) <smitrovich@ncai.org>; jennifer@nativeorganizing.org
Subject: Best email for tribal leaders to reach Dir. Tso?
 



Hi Ann,
 
My name is Ashley Tjhung and I am a Policy Analyst at Demos working on implementation of
President Biden’s Executive Order on Promoting Access to Voting. Along with our partners at the
Native American Rights Fund, the National Congress of American Indians, and the Native Organizers
Alliance, we are hosting a webinar tomorrow directed at tribal leaders and advocates about the
potential impact of IHS designations on voter registration in Indian Country. We expect some may
want to contact Dir. Tso in support of IHS’s recent commitment to begin a pilot program at 5
facilities and encouraging IHS to provide support to tribes who wish to pursue designations. We
want to ensure Dir. Tso is able to see the messages and also want to respect her time and inbox. Is
there an email address that is best for this kind of correspondence?
 
We would appreciate a response before the webinar at 3 pm ET as we expect many of our
participants may want to contact the Director following the webinar. I’ve also attached the flyer for
the webinar for you to view.
 
Thank you for all you and Director Tso are doing to fully implement the Voting Access EO and
ensuring the health and wellness for all IHS serves.
 
Best,
 
Ashley Tjhung
Policy Analyst, Democracy Reform
atjhung@demos.org | 248.818.0379



From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Allison Neswood; Sarah Brannon; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich

(smitrovich@ncai.org)
Subject: Re: Checking in re: ABQ
Date: Wednesday, July 5, 2023 8:00:55 PM

Agree. Will update as soon as over. 

J 

--
Joshuah C. Marshall
Senior Advisor to the Director, IHS 
Mobile: 
 
 

From: "Jacqueline De Leon" <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Subject: Checking in re: ABQ
Date: 05 July 2023 19:54
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
Date: Wednesday, July 5, 2023 7:41:27 PM

Hello Jacqueline,

Yes, please do move forward. Dr Thomas and relevant members of his leadership and I are
meeting tomorrow to discuss next steps (along with Ty and Bryce). I plan to reach out to you
all afterwards about trainings, materials, dates, and connecting with the SOS. 

Sequentially, does this  August  meeting need to happen before designation? If so, could it
happen sooner? I’d like to stick as much as possible to at least 1 if not 2 sites designated in
July as I committed to the White House. Of course they will understand if I was overzealous. 

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
Date: Thursday, July 6, 2023 4:19:00 PM

Hello,
 
Had a call with ABQ, BIL, and PHX area offices and the selected sites early today. We also had a call
with our partners at VA an DOI about their efforts on the E.O., which was a very productive call.
 
All in all, we should be able to move forward with outreach to the NM SoS. When you get the MOA
for SIPI will you please send along? Will you be including Dr. Thomas and Santa Fe Service Unit CEO
Daniel Cox on that first email?
 
Josh
 
 

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, July 5, 2023 7:54 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Allison Neswood
<Neswood@narf.org>; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>;
rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org) <smitrovich@ncai.org>
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
To: Ronnie Jo Horse; Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: Crow IHS NVRA Designation
Date: Tuesday, February 27, 2024 10:32:00 PM

Hello Ronnie,
 
Can we find time this week for this group to get a quick chat on the books?
 
Best,
Josh
 
 
From: Ronnie Jo Horse <rhorse@westernnativevoice.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 30, 2024 10:51 AM
To: Rockabove, Ashley (IHS/BIL) <Ashley.Rockabove2@ihs.gov>
Cc: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Redgrave, Bryce (IHS/BIL)
<Bryce.Redgrave@ihs.gov>
Subject: Re: Crow IHS NVRA Designation
 
Ok great! 
 
On Tue, Jan 30, 2024 at 7:27 AM Rockabove, Ashley (IHS/BIL) <Ashley.Rockabove2@ihs.gov> wrote:

Hi Ronnie,
 
I don’t believe we can access at this point in time, however, the discussion with Big Horn County
indicated this was something that we could integrate into ensuring we meet all the standards.  I’ll
have to check back on my notes.  Thank you.
 
Delon
 
From: Ronnie Jo Horse <rhorse@westernnativevoice.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 23, 2024 9:44 AM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Rockabove, Ashley (IHS/BIL) <Ashley.Rockabove2@ihs.gov>; Redgrave, Bryce (IHS/BIL)
<Bryce.Redgrave@ihs.gov>
Subject: Re: Crow IHS NVRA Designation
 
I can contact Austin once more. The SOS's updated voting system also exclusively accepts 911
addresses and coordinates. Can you access any of those details during the voter registration
process?
 
On Tue, Jan 23, 2024 at 9:32 AM Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> wrote:

Hello,
 



I just got back from vacation so sorry for delay. Yes, I think if you could reach out and get a
status check from them that would be great. Also, perhaps you, Delon, and I can get on a quick
check in call sometime next week.
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 
From: Ronnie Jo Horse <rhorse@westernnativevoice.org> 
Sent: Thursday, January 11, 2024 10:52 AM
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
 
We have not heard back from the SOS's office yet, but I can contact them. 
 
On Tue, Jan 9, 2024 at 6:43 PM Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> wrote:

Thank you for the update. Have you heard anything back from the Sec of State?
 
Thanks,
Josh
 
 

From: Rockabove, Ashley (IHS/BIL) <Ashley.Rockabove2@ihs.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 9, 2024 1:10 PM
To: Ronnie Jo Horse <rhorse@westernnativevoice.org>; Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
<Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>
Cc: Redgrave, Bryce (IHS/BIL) <Bryce.Redgrave@ihs.gov>
Subject: RE: Crow IHS NVRA Designation
 
Good Morning Ronnie,
 
Thank you or the update. 
 
Delon
 
From: Ronnie Jo Horse <rhorse@westernnativevoice.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 9, 2024 10:54 AM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Rockabove, Ashley (IHS/BIL)
<Ashley.Rockabove2@ihs.gov>
Subject: Crow IHS NVRA Designation
 
Greetings,
I wanted to inform you that Tajin is no longer part of our team. I'll be stepping in as our







intended recipient but do not wish to receive communications through this medium.



From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah Brannon; Allison Neswood
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Wednesday, August 30, 2023 4:43:00 PM

Greetings from HHS Region 5 Tribal Consultation in Choctaw Mississippi.
 
The NAS, PDX, and GPA area offices identified service units and sites that are willing to participate in
becoming on NVRA.
 
Portland: Western Oregon Service Unity (aka Chemawa) in Salem, OR. A federal site.
 
Nashville area: Native American Lifelines (located in Baltimore and Boston, but preference for
Baltimore location). An Urban Indian Organization.
 
Great Plains Area: Oyate Health Center in Rapid City. Tribally owned and operated site.
 
I’d like to set up a meeting with the Area Directors and the leadership of the three sites and a subset
of this group if anyone is able. Ideally the first two weeks of September. Can you send some times
that work on your end?
 
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
 
Some updates. I meet with NAS, GPA, and PDX area offices Monday and they are going to send me
the sites under consideration sometime next week. I’ll then work on getting a meeting with the Area
Directors, the leadership of the sites selected, and you all for early September.
 
I am meeting next week with the Navajo Area and Oklahoma City Area directors to start the process
with them. They are the last two of the 8 areas that committed earlier in the year. I will have to
figure out next steps with the remaining for (Alaska, California, Bemidji, and Tucson areas) soon.
 
Also, if you have any more examples of designation letters or MOAs to share, please do. People find
them helpful.
 



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

Thanks for following up. Attached is a letter that demonstrates how Kansas effectuated the
designation. The process can be as simple or as formal as the state chooses. For example, in Kansas
this letter sufficed and we think it’s a good example of how to simply and expeditiously move
forward with designation.  
 
Alternatively, next week on August 22 we are having a ceremony at the tribally run healthcare facility
in Shingle Springs where the California Secretary of State is going to the Rancheria to formally issue a
declaration issuing the designation and where the tribe is passing a tribal resolution accepting the
designation. Mostly, the point of this August 22 ceremony is to publicize the designation. Here is a
link to how California designates – the Secretary issues a declaration: NVRA Designated Agencies
(ca.gov). So following the ceremony, Shingle Springs Health and Wellness center will be added to this
Declaration.
 
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
Date: Wednesday, August 23, 2023 7:49:00 PM

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
To: Ashley Tjhung; Lundborg, Alexandria (IHS/HQ); Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Saundra Mitrovich; Sarah

Brannon; Allison Neswood
Subject: RE: EO 14019 - Promoting Access to Voting
Date: Thursday, August 17, 2023 2:36:00 PM

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
Date: Tuesday, August 15, 2023 3:29:00 PM

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
Date: Wednesday, September 6, 2023 11:46:00 AM

Just following up on my last email. Can you let me know some times that work for you all to meet
with me and staff from the NAS, PDX, and GPA areas next week?
 

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
To: Martinez, Marcus C (IHS/POR); Won, Roney (IHS/POR); Cotton, Beverly (IHS/NAS/AO); Amiotte, Joe

(IHS/ABR/AO); Begay, Duwayne (IHS/NAV); Watts, Travis (IHS/OKC/AO); Ashley Tjhung; Frye, Daniel
(IHS/BEM/AO); JDeLeon@narf.org

Cc: Diswood, Audra (IHS/NAV/AO); Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB); Meyer, Kirk (IHS/NAS/AO); Sherron, Daniel
(IHS/OKC/WEW)

Subject: RE: EO Materials and Next Steps
Date: Thursday, October 19, 2023 12:53:00 PM
Attachments: Explainer For IHS Voter Registration.pdf

Voter Registration Flow Diagram-9-8-2023.pdf

Hello
 
For the meeting today, please refer to this document sent earlier that outlines in detail the NVRA
process for IHS facilities. I also am attaching a flow chart developed by the Santa Fe Service Unit to
use as an example.
 
-----Original Appointment-----
From: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) On Behalf Of Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ)
Sent: Tuesday, October 17, 2023 9:17 AM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ); Martinez, Marcus C (IHS/POR); Won, Roney (IHS/POR); Cotton,
Beverly (IHS/NAS/AO); Amiotte, Joe (IHS/ABR/AO); Begay, Duwayne (IHS/NAV); Watts, Travis
(IHS/OKC/AO); Ashley Tjhung; Frye, Daniel (IHS/BEM/AO); JDeLeon@narf.org
Cc: Diswood, Audra (IHS/NAV/AO); Lessard, Kerry (IHS/NAS/LLB); Meyer, Kirk (IHS/NAS/AO); Sherron,
Daniel (IHS/OKC/WEW)
Subject: EO Materials and Next Steps
When: Thursday, October 19, 2023 1:00 PM-1:45 PM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada).
Where: 
 
Topic: Follow up EO Materials and Next Steps
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Join ZoomGov Meeting 

Meeting ID:  
Passcode: 
Dial by your location 
•  US (New York)
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
 

(b) (6)
(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)

(b) (6)
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Indian Health Services Voter Registration Guide  

 

Today, over a third (34 percent) of eligible Native Americans are not registered to vote.1 The National 
Congress of American Indians (NCAI), the Native American Rights Fund (NARF), and Demos are delighted to 
work in partnership with Indian Health Services (IHS) to provide high quality voter registration services to 
eligible Native voters. IHS serves roughly 2.6 million American Indian and Alaska Native patients annually, 
presenting the most significant opportunity to expand meaningful registration opportunities to Native 
Americans.2 And indeed, because civic engagement is a proven contributor to the social determinants of 
public health,3 voter registration services are well aligned with IHS’ mission to increase the wellbeing of 
Native Americans. Thank you for your ongoing effort to meet the charge of President Biden’s March 7, 2021, 
Executive Order Promoting Access to Voting (“Voting EO”) instructing federal agencies, to the greatest extent 
practicable under existing law, to A. consider ways to expand citizens’ opportunities to register to vote and to 
obtain information about, and participate in, the electoral process and B. agree to accept designation under 
the National Voter Registration Act.4  

As a trusted agency providing critical medical services to American Indian and Alaska Native communities 
across Indian Country, IHS has an important role to play in decreasing barriers and facilitating civic 
participation among Native communities. Too often, Native Americans do not have registration opportunities 
– county registration sites are far away, Department of Motor Vehicles are located off reservation, and public 
assistance opportunities are provided through federal treaty obligations instead of state-run programs that 
offer registration.5 Consequently, the Indian Health Service provides the most meaningful opportunity to 
engage with and register the most under-served eligible Native American voters.  

 
1 National Conference of American Indians Infographic, 
https://www.ncai.org/initiatives/campaigns/NCAI NativeVoteInfographic.pdf.   
2 “IHS Profile,” Indian Health Service, data as of January 2020, 
https://www.ihs.gov/newsroom/factsheets/ihsprofile/.  
3 Nelson C, Sloan J, Chandra A. Examining Civic Engagement Links to Health: Findings from the Literature and 
Implications for a Culture of Health. RAND Corporation, 2019. 
https://www.rand.org/pubs/research reports/RR3163.html. 
4 March 7, 2021 Executive Order on Promoting Access to Voting, available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-
room/presidential-actions/2021/03/07/executive-order-on-promoting-access-to-voting/.  
5 Dr. James Thomas Tucker, Jacqueline De León, and Dr. Dan McCool, Obstacles at Every Turn: Barriers to 
Political Participation Faced by Native American Voters, Native American Rights Fund, 2020, 
https://vote.narf.org/obstacles-at-every-turn/.  
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This document provides guidance on how to effectively conduct voter registration in the healthcare context. 
It was developed based on conversations with several organizations that have experience registering voters 
in healthcare settings and with individuals familiar with the IHS context. It was also informed by our many 
years of experience supporting staff in state agencies to design, implement, and conduct voter registration, 
including agencies that administer healthcare programs like Medicaid. This guidance includes 
recommendations related to: 

I. The opportunity to leverage the expertise of nonprofit, nonpartisan partners who have significant 
voter registration experience and that can support IHS during this initial development phase and on 
an ongoing basis after IHS has integrated voter registration into its patient services 

II. How to effectively conduct voter registration in the healthcare context 

III. Guidance on how to effectively and successfully prepare IHS staff to provide voter registration 
services 

IV. Ideas for materials, messaging, branding that can help IHS meet its goals related to effectively 
providing voter registration alongside its critical mission of providing high quality health care  

V. Working with state officials to formally designate IHS facilities as voter registration agencies under 
the NVRA.       

We also created a document detailing general best practices for federal agencies overall, which may also be 
helpful.6  

Our groups are eager to share our significant experience with voter registration and with effective 
engagement in American Indian and Alaska Native communities. We look forward to discussing these 
recommendations and supporting you as you implement your plan for assisting patients with voter 
registration at IHS facilities.  

 

I. Leverage the Expertise of Nonprofit, Nonpartisan Partners 

IHS does not need to start from scratch as it works to incorporate high quality voter registration 
services into its facilities. There are nonprofit, nonpartisan organizations both within Indian Country 
and outside it with significant experience developing voter registration programs in healthcare and 
other similar contexts. Many of these organizations are eager and happy to provide technical 
assistance and thought partnership. There are also opportunities to leverage trusted actors within 
Native communities who could be strong partners to IHS facility leadership and staff in implementing 
voter registration services that will meet the needs of IHS' patients, such as members of the pilot 
Native Health Coaches program. 

Working with third parties such as these has many benefits. Most fundamentally, trusted third 
parties can provide additional guidance that can help ensure voter registration services are high 
quality, even in places where IHS staff capacity is limited. Additionally, partnerships with these 

 
6 Best Practices for Federal Agency Voter Registration, Demos & ACLU, 2021, https://www.demos.org/policy-
briefs/best-practices-federal-agency-voter-registration.  
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groups can help IHS build trust with patients in this new area of services. Similar to the trust IHS 
enjoys in its provision of medical care, these third parties are often members of IHS patients’ 
communities and have built familiarity with and trust in the work they do to improve access to 
registration and voting. These groups can help raise awareness about and generate trust in IHS voter 
registration services. Finally, these third parties are often well-situated to share expertise on how to 
provide adequate and culturally appropriate language assistance in the voter registration process. 

Nonprofit, Nonpartisan Voter Engagement Organizations  

There are a number of nonprofit, nonpartisan organizations in Indian Country who would be 
excellent partners in offering experience and expertise to IHS staff as they work to integrate high 
quality voter registration services. These organizations have significant experience conducting 
nonpartisan voter registration and have staff who are already trained in the essentials, such as: 
respectfully approaching patients to offer voter registration, protecting registrant confidentiality, 
ensuring the interaction remains nonpartisan, complying with their state’s third-party registration 
requirements, and collecting and transmitting completed voter registration applications to 
appropriate local or state election officials.  

These organizations include the NCAI Native Vote coalition, InterTribal Council of Arizona, the Native 
American Voting Rights Coalition (NAVRC) and its members, California Native Vote Project, NDN 
Collective, Western Native Vote (Montana/Idaho), Four Directions, Advanced Native Political 
Leadership, Phoenix Indian Center, National Urban Indian Family Coalition, Alaska Native Vote, Great 
Plains Tribal Chairmen's Association, and individual citizens engaged in strengthening civic 
participation in AIAN communities and numerous partner organizations. The Native American Voting 
Rights Coalition is continuing to update their lists of state and regional partners in GOTV and are 
willing to provide contact information.   

National Health Coaches (Pilot Program) 

In addition to these existing potential partners—and any others local IHS leadership may be able to 
identify—IHS should consider integrating a voter registration component into the National Health 
Coach Pilot Project it is launching this year.7 Experience with a similar program in the VA context 
shows that these coaches become integral members of a healthcare facility community and are 
excellent ambassadors for an activity that is essential to the health and wellness of Native 
communities: voting. These highly trained and trusted actors will already be operating within some 
IHS facilities to support patients to live healthy lives, and they would be excellent candidates for 
checking on a patient’s voter registration status and, if desired, supporting patients to register to 
vote, to update their registration, or to access voter education materials.  

Even in IHS facilities where the Native Health Coaches program is not being piloted, there may 
already be analogous actors who are integrated into the healthcare experience, who could offer 
voter registration services or support.  

 
7 National Health Coach Pilot Project, Indian Health Services, https://www.ihs.gov/dccs/nhcpp/. The pilot 
phase’s first 50 participants are being trained between April – October 2022, so there is still time to integrate a 
simple voter registration component into their training. Our organizations support training of staff doing voter 
registration in other contexts and can provide sample training materials.  
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II. Effectively Conducting Voter Registration in the Healthcare Context  

Years of experience registering eligible voters in private healthcare contexts and at state agencies 
providing other services make clear it is straightforward, cost-effective, and impactful to offer 
community members voter registration services alongside the medical care or other business they 
are conducting. State agencies like departments of motor vehicles, Medicaid and SNAP offices, and 
offices serving people with disabilities have been registering voters for decades without burden on 
staff or disruption of client services. In the state of Michigan, voter registration activities conducted 
by Michigan the Department of Human Services averaged just $7,000 per site per year in 2019 and 
2020.8 Most importantly, when agencies provide high-quality voter registration services, millions of 
additional people are added to the registration rolls.9   

Acquiring Voter Registration Forms 

As a starting place, IHS staff should ensure there are adequate voter registration forms at the facility. 
The process for securing voter registration forms varies state by state, so staff should consult with 
local or state election officials, some of whom will likely be willing to provide blank registration forms 
directly to IHS facilities. In many states, IHS staff can simply print voter registration forms from the 
Secretary of State’s or local election official’s websites to keep forms well-stocked at the facility. 
Where state forms are required to be obtained by local or state election officials, we are happy to 
advise on the process if needed. 

Offering Voter Registration  

Exactly when and how IHS staff offer voter registration will depend on a few factors, including the 
nature of the intake process, the layout of the facility, and the connectivity of the facility. The 
following are general best practices that will be possible in many facilities; we are happy to discuss 
specific circumstances and provide site-relevant recommendations directly to IHS facilities if they 
determine how to integrate voter registration.  

Generally, the intake or check in process is an excellent place to offer patients the chance to register 
to vote. Patients can be asked whether they are registered to vote at their current address, and if not 
if they want to register to vote—the “voter registration question”—as part of the intake process. If 
the intake process happens in person at the IHS facility, the staff member conducting this intake can 
ask the voter registration question after collecting the other relevant information. If the patient is 
interested, staff can then provide a voter registration form and offer to provide assistance filling out 
the form, if the patient desires it. If the facility needs to move patients through intake quickly, this 
staff person could also send the patient to a separate designated staff member for help filling out the 
form and move on to intake for the next patient.  

If intake happens over the phone before the visit, the IHS staff person making the call can ask the 
voter registration question and let the patient know someone will be available to offer assistance 
filling out the voter registration form when they come in for their appointment. If patients complete 
the intake process online before their visit, there can be a question about voter registration and a 

 
8 Michigan DHHS administers SNAP, Medicaid/CHIP programs. Data obtained via public records requests. 
9 Laura Williamson, Pamela Cataldo, and Brenda Wright, Toward a More Representative Electorate, Dēmos, 
December 21, 2018, 6. https://www.demos.org/research/toward-more-representative-electorate. 
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note that someone will be available to offer assistance filling out the voter registration form when 
they come in for their appointment. Most states also offer online voter registration, so in cases 
where IHS facilities are situated in communities with broadband access and utilizes an online intake 
form, that form can also link directly to the state’s online voter registrations system.10  

For existing patients, a similar process can be utilized during the check in process. As the IHS staff 
member checks to ensure the patient’s insurance is up to date, they can also ask if they have moved, 
changed their name, or otherwise may need to update their voter registration, or if they’re not 
registered to vote already, if they want to register for the first time. If the patient desires to register 
or to update their registration, the IHS staff member can follow the procedures described above.  

Alongside integrating voter registration into the intake or check in processes, in a circumstance 
where the medical staff at an IHS facility is comfortable, the topic of voting and voter registration 
could also be integrated into the interaction between the patient and the healthcare provider. For 
example, Vote-ER, an organization that supports healthcare providers and facilities to integrate voter 
registration and education into their services,11 suggests asking a question about voter registration 
alongside routine health evaluation questions like “Do you smoke?,” “Do you drink?,” “Are you safe 
at home?,” “Are you registered to vote?,” or after completion of the medical history, through a 
question like “We’re all done with this part of our history. Now I want to transition to something else 
that’s also important to your health and wellbeing, and that’s voting. Are you registered to vote?” 
Such conversations help patients draw connections between voting and their health and wellness 
(and that of their community) and engage a trusted messenger in helping to normalize voting. For 
any patients who are interested, the medical provider could then direct the patient to check in with 
intake staff to learn about how to register to vote on their way out of the appointment.  

Ensuring Completed Voter Registration Forms are Submitted to Election Officials  

Ideally, any time a patient completes a voter registration form, IHS staff would collect that completed 
form and transmit it to the appropriate state or local election officials in a timely fashion.12 In this 
case, completed voter registration forms should be stored in a secure location until they are 
transmitted by a designated and trained staff member, either by mail or in person. Agencies that 
collect and transmit completed voter registration forms see higher registration rates, because when 
clients or patients take voter registration applications home to complete later or to mail on their 
own, they often face barriers to completing the process and do not become registered. 

For facilities where transmission of completed forms may be logistically impossible, IHS can still take 
steps to help ensure the patient becomes registered. For example, election officials in some localities 
and states may be willing to collect completed forms from the IHS facility, in which case IHS staff 
would only be responsible for collecting and securely storing the forms, and for notifying election 
officials if a pickup is required outside the regularly scheduled pickups.  

 
10 “Online Voter Registration,” National Conference of State Legislatures, last updated July 2021, 
https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/electronic-or-online-voter-registration.aspx.  
11 Vot-ER, https://vot-er.org/.  
12 The NVRA is again a good model for this. It requires agencies to transmit completed voter registration 
applications to the appropriate election official within 10 days after the client completes the application (and 
within 5 days before the voter registration deadline for federal elections). 
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If election officials are not willing or are unable to pick up completed forms, IHS staff can provide 
patients with an addressed, stamped envelope they can use to mail their completed form, and can 
direct patients to the closest USPS mailbox.13 In some states, such as New Mexico, voter registration 
forms make clear that postage is not required; patients, or IHS staff who collect the completed form 
need, simply seal the voter registration form and drop it in a USPS mailbox.14   

In cases in which IHS staff do not collect completed forms, it is extra important that the staff member 
remind patients to mail in their completed forms and make clear any upcoming voter registration 
deadlines. IHS staff could even do a follow up call to remind patients to submit their voter 
registration applications.  

 

III. Successfully Prepare IHS Staff to Provide Voter Registration Services 

All IHS staff engaged in any step in the voter registration process should complete an initial training 
upon beginning in their role, and they should receive refresher training each year. Training should be 
developed with the support of voter registration experts and organization(s) with experience and 
expertise in community and civic engagement with Native American communities. Our organizations 
are eager to serve as a resource to IHS headquarters and to any individual facilities that are 
developing staff training.  

Trainings for staff engaged in voter registration with patients should at a minimum include:15 

● At a conceptual level, the link between physical and mental health and civic engagement, 
especially voting;16 the importance of ensuring all eligible people have access to 
registration and voting; the significant and persistent registration gaps faced by American 
Indian and Alaska Native communities;17 and the role IHS can play in removing barriers to 
democratic participation.  

● General information about who is eligible to register to vote in the state, including that 
an individual must be a U.S. citizen to vote.18  

o Note that IHS staff themselves are not responsible for determining eligibility nor 

 
13 The National Mail Voter Registration Form (NMVRF) provides an address for delivery of completed voter 
registration forms in almost all states. National Mail Voter Registration Form, U.S. ELECTION ASSISTANCE 
COMM’N, https://www.eac.gov/voters/national-mail-voter-registration-form; see also 52 U.S.C. § 
20505(a). 
14 For example, see New Mexico’s voter registration form, 
https://portal.sos.state.nm.us/ovr/VRForms/VRFormEnglishFinal.pdf, and Georgia’s voter registration form, 
https://sos.ga.gov/sites/default/files/forms/GA VR APP 2019.pdf. 
15 We can provide samples of voter registration training for agency staff from state government agencies, and/or can 
work with IHS facility leadership to develop training specific to IHS staff needs. 
16 Susan H. Babey, Joelle Wolstein, and Shana Charles, Better Health, Greater Social Cohesion Linked to Voting, 
https://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/publications/search/pages/detail.aspx?PubID=1963.  
17 Report of the Interagency Steering Group on Native American Voting Rights, March 2022, page 9, 
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Tribal-Voting-Report-FINAL.pdf.  
18 The National Mail Voter Registration Form and state voter registration applications describe the eligibility 
requirements to register to vote. See footnote 13 for more detail on the NMVRF.   
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liable if an ineligible person registers to vote. Election officials themselves are 
responsible for reviewing voter registration applications and verifying eligibility. 

● How to ask a question about voter registration in the healthcare context, i.e. when 
patients are focused on the purpose of their health appointment.  

● The specific processes an IHS facility has developed for: 

o Asking the voter registration question;  
o Distributing voter registration applications to interested patients; 
o Offering assistance in completing the application to interested patients; 
o Collecting and storing completed applications, as applicable; and  
o Transmitting it to elections officials, as applicable. 

● Description of the fields in the voter registration application, including which fields are 
required for the registration to be complete and accepted, and what information should 
be supplied for each required field. 

● Answers to commonly asked questions about filling out the voter registration application 
and about voting. 

● Information on how clients can contact state or local election officials if they have 
additional questions about voter registration or voting.19 

● How to ensure that the voter registration application is completely filled out and legible, 
before accepting and transmitting the application to the appropriate election official (as 
applicable) or sending the patient with an addressed, stamped envelope. 

● The importance of making clear to patients that voter registration is voluntary—they are 
not required to register to vote to obtain services. 

● The strict prohibition on partisanship and the strict rules around confidentiality. 

Voter Registration Coordinator  

One of the primary ways to ensure effective voter registration at IHS facilities is to appoint a “voter 
registration coordinator” within each facility, whose responsibility it is to ensure high quality voter 
registration services are provided to all eligible patients. This need not be a full-time position; voter 
registration oversight can likely be added to the duties of a staff member who is already playing a 
supervisory or oversight role within an IHS facility. Having an appointed voter registration 
coordinator can make the difference between effective voter registration efforts—i.e. registration 
that is convenient, efficient for the facility, and simple for patients to navigate and, as a result, 
maximizes the number of Native American voters added to the registration rolls—and ineffective 
efforts. This is a model employed by many state agencies to meet their obligations under the 
National Voter Registration Act.20  

 
19 Contact information is maintained by the General Services Agency on USA.gov, https://www.usa.gov/election-office. 
20  For example, Arizona, Kansas, North Carolina, and Oklahoma, to list a few. 
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The voter registration coordinator should have additional training, beyond the annual training for 
other staff involved in offering voter registration services, and their duties should include:  

● Ensuring adequate training for all agency staff engaged in providing voter registration 
services, via an initial training at the point of hire and an annual refresher training like 
that described above. 

● Being responsible for maintaining voter registration supplies (such as blank voter 
registration applications). 

● Ensuring voter registration services are being offered during relevant transactions and 
providing quality control of those services. 

● Setting up and monitoring a system for delivering completed applications to election 
officials, as applicable. 

● Collecting and making publicly available data on the number of people submitting 
registration applications through the program or agency. 

 

IV. Ideas for Materials, Messaging, and Branding  

It is important to think through the type of messaging and materials that will resonate with different 
audiences related to voter engagement. Often, when and how something is said is just as important 
as what is said. Possibilities may include: Messages on GoodHealthTV encouraging people to take 
advantage of voter registration opportunities in IHS facilities, and/or informational sheets that can be 
supplied in waiting rooms explaining how clients can access voter registration. Additionally, voters in 
Native American communities tend to respond to messages delivered by trusted messengers in the 
community and relate to topics that directly affect their families and community. Our groups stand 
ready to help IHS develop culturally competent messaging that resonates with Native voters.  

 

V. Designate IHS Facilities as NVRA Voter Registration Agencies 

The National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (NVRA) provides that states can designate federal 
government agencies as voter registration agencies.21 The Voting Access EO requires that “[e]ach 
agency, if requested by a State to be designated as a voter registration agency pursuant to section 
7(a)(3)(B)(ii) of the National Voter Registration Act, shall, to the greatest extent practicable and 
consistent with applicable law, agree to such designation.”22 

Designation is not necessary for IHS to provide the more robust voter registration services 
recommended here. However, thanks to the strong voter registration procedures in the NVRA, 
accepting designations made by a state can help IHS follow through on its commitment in response 

 
21 National Voter Registration Act, §7(a)(3)(B)(ii). 
22 “Executive Order on Promoting Access to Voting,” Section (4)(b),  March 7, 2021, 
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/03/07/executive-order-on-promoting-
access-to-voting/. 
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to the Voting EO, to “offer its patients assistance with voter registration”23 and, in turn, promote 
better individual and community health in Indian Country. Accepting designation can also facilitate 
interactions with the state by providing a registration model states are familiar with, making the 
process of receiving and returning registration material easier and smoother.  

The Department of the Interior has led on securing designations of important institutions in Indian 
Country. It has designated Haskell Indian Nations University in Kansas and is in the process of 
designating the Southwestern Indian Polytechnic Institute (SIPI) in New Mexico. Other agencies, like 
the Department of Veterans Affairs and the Small Business Administration, are also pursuing NVRA 
designation in a handful of places.24   

IHS, too, could pursue NVRA agency status by starting with a handful of pilot designations in IHS 
facilities that are high-functioning and serve sizeable populations within Indian Country. One facility 
we believe is a great candidate for designation is the Albuquerque, NM IHS facility. Albuquerque Area 
IHS delivers services to more than 86,000 Native Americans through a system of four hospitals, 12 
health centers, six health stations, two urban Indian programs, one dental center, and one regional 
residential treatment center. As a trusted provider of critical health care services in Albuquerque and 
the region, the Albuquerque Area IHS is well-situated to provide impactful voter registration services 
for Native American communities. Further, because of DOI’s work toward securing designation of SIPI 
in New Mexico, leadership in the state is already familiar with NVRA designation.  

A few other good candidates include the Pima County, AZ facility, where we believe there is an eager 
partner in the County Recorder, as well as the Shurz, Red Lake, and Bimidji facilities, and the Reno 
Sparks and Denver facilities. By starting with a small number of promising locations in both rural and 
urban areas, IHS can learn how to become an effective NVRA voter registration agency and, in time, 
scale up to serve even more of Indian Country through a broader set of IHS facilities. 

 

* *  * 
 

The trusted relationship that IHS has established with Native communities provides a strong 
foundation for offering voter registration services alongside existing IHS interactions. Civic 
engagement is a proven contributor to the social determinants of public health,25 and as such is a 
strong potential multiplier of IHS's mission of promoting the health of Native communities. 
Advocates for AIAN communities stand ready to partner with IHS to achieve the promise of President 
Biden’s Executive Order for their communities. 

 
23 “Fact Sheet: Biden Administration Promotes Voter Participation with New Agency Steps,” White House, 
September 28, 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/09/28/fact-sheet-
biden-administration-promotes-voter-participation-with-new-agency-steps/.  
24 “Fact Sheet: Biden-Harris Administration Releases Report on Native American Voting Rights,” White House, 
March 24, 2022,  
 https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/03/24/fact-sheet-biden-harris-
administration-releases-report-on-native-american-voting-rights/.  
25 Nelson C, Sloan J, Chandra A. Examining Civic Engagement Links to Health: Findings from the Literature and 
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
Date: Thursday, September 28, 2023 2:59:00 PM
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
Date: Friday, July 21, 2023 11:04:00 AM

I found it…was buried! Excited to see this move forward.
 
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Friday, July 21, 2023 10:55 AM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Saundra Mitrovich <smitrovich@ncai.org>; Jacqueline De
Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org>
Cc: Cox, Daniel (IHS/ALB/SF) <Daniel.Cox@ihs.gov>; Thomas, Leonard (IHS/ALB) <Leonard.Thomas@ihs.gov>; Sarah
Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org>; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org>; rseelau@ncai.org
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
Date: Thursday, February 22, 2024 2:24:00 PM

Last I heard from the SoS office is that they were going to send along possible training dates for late
Feb and early March to deploy at the two service units and then designation will follow. However,
that was in late January and I haven’t heard back yet. I can check with the service units, but it seems
we are just waiting for the state to move.  
 
Best,
Josh
 
 

From: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org> 
Sent: Thursday, February 22, 2024 1:37 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov>; Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org>
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
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: NVRA and Great Plains Area
Date: Tuesday, November 28, 2023 4:20:00 PM

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
To: Jacqueline De Leon; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon; Ashley Tjhung
Cc: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ)
Subject: RE: Outreach Request/Additional Sites
Date: Wednesday, November 8, 2023 9:24:00 AM

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
To: Jacqueline De Leon; Ashley Tjhung; rseelau@ncai.org; Sarah Brannon
Cc: Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ)
Subject: Re: Outreach requests/status for additional sites
Date: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 6:45:51 PM

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
Date: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 3:49:00 PM

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
Date: Tuesday, November 7, 2023 10:11:00 AM

Quick thought on Wisconsin: would it be possible to get some sort of proclamation from the SoS or
Governor for the org in lieu of the NVRA as they are exempt?  Obviously something for later on as
need to knock of the first five at least.
 
Best,
Josh
 
 
 

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) 
Sent: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 6:46 PM
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
 
Thanks for the response. And thank you all for your help on this!  I am just trying to keep all things
moving so we hit (and exceed) the EO goals. 
 
That is useful to know about Alaska. I think we can move quickly on getting ANTHC stood up
perhaps. 
 
Regarding Shingle Springs, although it is a tribally run facility I’d argue it is in the IHS family since it is
a 638 tribe and they have taken their tribal shares from IHS. And IHS still has inherently federal
functions as regards 638 tribal health facilities. Indeed 65% of IHS goes to ISDEAA tribes, so
important—at least for this endeavor—to think of them as one. Worthwhile to chat about
 
That is nice to know about WI. 
 
Yes, we should get a call scheduled for early next week. I have added Jerel to help with scheduling. 
 
 
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
To: rseelau@ncai.org; smitrovich@ncai.org; Neswood@narf.org; JDeLeon@narf.org; ATjhung@demos.org
Cc: Sarah Brannon
Subject: RE: Promoting Access to Voting in Indian Country Discussion
Date: Friday, May 19, 2023 4:52:00 PM

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
To: Ashley Tjhung; Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ)
Cc: Jacqueline De Leon; Sarah Brannon; Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org); Ryan Seelau

(Rseelau@NCAI.org); cklar@ncai.org; Allison Neswood
Subject: RE: Touch base next week?
Date: Tuesday, January 30, 2024 5:27:00 PM

That works for me.
 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 30, 2024 3:32 PM
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
Date: Thursday, January 25, 2024 11:20:00 AM

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
Date: Monday, January 22, 2024 6:02:00 PM

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

  _____  

From: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov <mailto:Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> >
Sent: Monday, January 22, 2024 6:02 PM
To: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org <mailto:ATjhung@demos.org> >; Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) <Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov <mailto:Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov> >
Cc: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org <mailto:JDeLeon@narf.org> >; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org <mailto:sbrannon@aclu.org> >;
Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org <mailto:smitrovich@ncai.org> ) <smitrovich@ncai.org <mailto:smitrovich@ncai.org> >; Ryan Seelau
(Rseelau@NCAI.org <mailto:Rseelau@NCAI.org> ) <rseelau@ncai.org <mailto:rseelau@ncai.org> >; cklar@ncai.org <mailto:cklar@ncai.org> 
<cklar@ncai.org <mailto:cklar@ncai.org> >; Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org <mailto:Neswood@narf.org> >
Subject: RE: Touch base next week? 

 

Hello, 

 

I was on annual leave the last couple weeks and was abroad so had no access to my government IT hardware or systems. Currently, I am at the
quarterly meeting of IHS executive leadership in PHX. I can perhaps do something on Friday of this week or earlier next week. 

 

Josh

 

 

From: Ashley Tjhung <ATjhung@demos.org <mailto:ATjhung@demos.org> > 
Sent: Friday, January 19, 2024 12:56 PM
To: Marshall, Joshuah (IHS/HQ) <Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov <mailto:Joshuah.Marshall@ihs.gov> >; Kee, Jerel (IHS/HQ) <Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov
<mailto:Jerel.Kee@ihs.gov> >
Cc: Jacqueline De Leon <JDeLeon@narf.org <mailto:JDeLeon@narf.org> >; Sarah Brannon <sbrannon@aclu.org <mailto:sbrannon@aclu.org> >;
Saundra Mitrovich (smitrovich@ncai.org <mailto:smitrovich@ncai.org> ) <smitrovich@ncai.org <mailto:smitrovich@ncai.org> >; Ryan Seelau
(Rseelau@NCAI.org <mailto:Rseelau@NCAI.org> ) <rseelau@ncai.org <mailto:rseelau@ncai.org> >; cklar@ncai.org <mailto:cklar@ncai.org> ;
Allison Neswood <Neswood@narf.org <mailto:Neswood@narf.org> >
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

 

Happy new year! Hope things have been going well. We were hoping to be able to touch base with you some time next week or the week after for
updates on the designations campaign. Let us know some times that work for you, thanks! 

 

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
Date: Thursday, January 25, 2024 11:13:48 AM

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




